#### ABSTRACT

A wide range of Proteobacteria are known to produce signalling molecules, such as N-acyl-homoserine lactones (AHLs) to regulate genes expression in a populationdependent manner, thereby enabling group behavior acted in unison. This mechanism of cell-to-cell communication is known as quorum sensing (QS). In a polymicrobial community, while some bacteria are communicating with neighboring cells, others are interrupting the communication, and the interruption of communication is known as quorum quenching (QQ). In this study, the production and degradation of AHLs by bacteria isolated from Ulu Slim Hot Spring were investigated. Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Methylobacterium sp. were found to synthesize AHL in this study. Significant QQ activity was discovered among Bacillus megaterium, Gordonia sp., P. aeruginosa, Pseudomonas otitidis, Roseomonas sp. and Rhodotorula mucilaginosa using triple quadrupole liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS-QQQ). Degradation of AHLs by Gordonia sp. and Rhodotorula (a fungus) was documented for the first time in this study. Selected bacterial isolates have been isolated and identified using both Microflex<sup>TM</sup> LT MALDI-TOF approach as well as 16S rRNA gene sequencing approach. The bacterial isolates include Kocuria rhizophila CN12, Stenotrophomonas maltophila F2, Chelatococcus sp. M3, Providencia rettgeri M22, Dermacoccus Cronobacter sakazakii nishinomiyaensis M25, Schineria sp. M27, M30. *Exiguobacterium aurantiacum* M31, *Brevibacterium casei* M40, *Proteus mirabilis* M48 and Micrococcus luteus M71.

#### ABSTRAK

Pelbagai anggota Proteobacteria telah dilaporkan menghasilkan molekul-molekul isyarat seperti N-asil homoserin lakton (AHL) untuk mengawal selia ekspresi gen bergantung kepada ketumpatan populasi. Pengawalan ekspresi gen membolehkan populasi bakteria menunjukkan tingkah laku berkumpulan dan bertindak secara serentak. Mekanisma komunikasi antara sel-sel bakteria dikenali sebagai pengesanan kuorum (QS). Di dalam sebuah komuniti bakteria, sementara sekelompok bakteria berkomunikasi dengan sel-sel bakteria yang berdekatan, terdapat sekumpulan bakteria yang mengganggu proses komunikasi tersebut. Gangguan komunikasi tersebut dikenali sebagai perencatan kuorum (QQ). Dalam kajian tersebut, bakteria-bakteria yang merembeskan AHL dan juga menguraikan AHL telah dikaji. Penguraian AHL telah ditemui di bakteria-bakteria Bacillus megaterium, Gordonia sp., P. aeruginosa, P. otitidis, Roseomonas sp. dan juga Rhodotorula mucilaginosa, dengan menggunakan kromatografi cecair selaras spektrometer jisim. Aktiviti penguraian AHL oleh Gordonia sp. dan Rhodotorula (sejenis kulat) adalah kali pertama dilaporkan. Terdapat juga beberapa bakteria yang telah diasingkan dan dikenali dengan menggunakan kaedah Microflex<sup>TM</sup> LT MALDI-TOF dan juga kaedah penjujukan DNA bagi gen 16S rRNA. Bakteria-bakteria tersebut adalah seperti Kocuria rhizophila CN12, Stenotrophomonas maltophila F2, Chelatococcus sp. M3, Providencia rettgeri M22, Dermacoccus nishinomiyaensis M25, Schineria sp. M27, Cronobacter sakazakii M30, Exiguobacterium aurantiacum M31, Brevibacterium casei M40, Proteus mirabilis M48 serta Micrococcus luteus M71.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to convey my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Chan Kok Gan, for the privilege to complete my study under his mentorship. He has been tirelessly providing me useful guidance and encouragement and new ideas for research. I have benefited tremendously from this guidance and advices throughout the entire research period.

Next, I would like to thank my lab manager, Ms. Yin Wai Fong for the well management in the lab. She ensures constant supplies of necessity and the reasonable working and storage area in the lab that provide us a comfortable working environment.

Deeply thanks University of Malaya for giving me a chance to further my study in one of the world top universities. In addition to that I would like to thank UM for the financial support of my entire research project.

I would like to specially thank and acknowledge my lab members, Xin Yue, Teik Min, Jian Woon, Thiba, Yee Meng and Li Ying for their motivations, suggestions, criticisms as well as their willingness to offer their helping hands whenever I encountered any complications during experiments.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family members for their continuous support and I definitely treasure their motivations and encouragements.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

### PAGE

ABSTRACT	iii
ABSTRAK	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	Х
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS	
	XIV

# CHAPTERS

1.0 INTRODUCTION	1
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW	3
2.1 Communication within the Microbial World	3
2.2 Quorum Sensing Signalling Molecules	4
2.3 Bacterial Communication Using AHLs	6
2.4 Quorum Sensing and Evolution	17
2.5 Interference of Quorum Sensing	18
2.5.1 AHL-Lactonases	20
2.5.2 AHL-Acylases	24
2.5.3 AHL-Oxidoreductases	27
2.6 More Than Just Interference of Communication	28
3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS	31
3.1 Materials	31

3.1.1 Bacterial Strains, Plasmid and Oligonucleotides	31
3.1.2 Chemical Reagents	34
3.1.3 Commercial Kits	34
3.1.4 Growth Media and Buffer Solutions	35
3.1.4.1 Luria-Bertani (LB) Medium	35
3.1.4.2 Super Optimal Broth (S.O.B.) Medium	35
3.1.4.3 S.O.C. Medium	36
3.1.4.4 Hot Spring Water Growth Medium (HS Agar)	36
3.1.4.5 1 × Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS)	36
3.1.4.6 5 $\times$ Tris Borate EDTA (TBE) Buffer	36
3.1.5 Synthetic N-Acyl Homoserine Lactone	37
3.1.6 Ampicillin Solution	37
3.1.7 5-Bromo-4-Chloro-3-Indolyl-β-D-Galactopyranoside (X-	27
gal) Solution	57
3.1.8 DNA Size Reference Marker/ DNA Ladder	37
3.2 Methods	38
3.2.1 Sampling	38
3.2.2 Isolation of Environmental Bacteria	38
3.2.3 Bacterial Identification using Microflex <sup>TM</sup> LT	38
3.2.4 Detection of N-Acyl Homoserine Lactone Production	39
3.2.4.1 Detection of AHL Production Using Biosensors	39
3.2.4.2 AHL Extraction	40
3.2.4.3 Triple Quadrupole Liquid Chromatography Mass	40
Spectrometry (LC/MS/MS-QQQ) Analysis	40
3.2.5 Detection of AHL Inactivation Bioactivities	41

3.2.5.1 Whole Cell AHL Inactivation Assay	41
3.2.5.2 Investigation of QQ Activities Using	42
LC/MS/MS-QQQ	43
3.2.6 Molecular Identification of Bacterial Isolates	44
3.2.6.1 Genomic DNA Extraction	44
3.2.6.2 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) Amplification	44
3.2.6.3 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis (AGE)	45
3.2.6.4 Gene Cloning, Transformation and Gene	46
Sequencing	70
4.0 RESULTS	48
4.1 Bacteria Identification using Microflex <sup>TM</sup> LT Biotyper	48
4.2 Molecular Identification of Isolates	49
4.3 Characterization of AHL Molecules Synthesized by Bacterial	55
Isolates	55
4.3.1 Detection of AHL Production Using Biosensors	55
4.3.2 Detection of Synthetic AHL Molecules using	58
LC/MS/MS-QQQ	50
4.2.3 Detection of AHL Molecules from Crude Extracts using	65
LC/MS/MS-QQQ	05
4.4 Investigation of Bacterial Quorum Quenching Activities	66
4.4.1 Screening for QQ Bacteria via Whole Cell Inactivation	
Assay	66
4.4.2 Investigation of QQ Activities using LC/MS/MS-QQQ	69
5.0 DISCUSSION	82

5.1 Isolation and Identification of Isolates from Ulu Slim Hot	งา
Spring	82
5.2 AHLs Production of Pseudomonas and Methylobacterium	82
5.3 Inactivation of AHL Molecules	84
5.3.1 AHL – degrading Fungus – Rhodotorula mucilaginosa	84
5.3.2 Quorum Quenching Pseudomonas	85
5.3.3 AHL-Lactonase of Roseomonas	86
5.3.4 QQ Gordonia sp.	87
5.3.5 Inactivation of AHL by <i>Bacillus megaterium</i>	87
5.4 Future Studies	88
6.0 CONCLUSION	90
REFERENCES	91

# LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE		PAGE
2.1	Different classes of quorum sensing signalling molecules	7
2.2	Four possible ways of enzymatic degradation of AHL molecule	19
2.3	Structural modification of AHL molecules via quorum	20
	quenching enzymatic reactions	
4.1	16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of	50
	Methylobacterium rhodesianum F1	
4.2	16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Pseudomonas	50
	aeruginosa M7	
43	16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of <i>Pseudomonas</i>	51
7.5	otitidis M18	51
4.4	16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Gordonia sp.	51
	M45	
4.5	16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Bacillus	52
	megaterium M52	
4.6	16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Roseomonas sp.	52
	M66	
47	16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of	53
,	Stenotrophomonas maltophila F2.	00
4.8	16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Chelatococcus	53
	daeguensis M3	

ix

4.9	16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Schineria sp.	54
	M27	

4.10	16S	rRNA	gene	based	phylogenetic	analysis	of	54
	Exigio	obacteriur	<i>n</i> sp. M.	31.				
4.11	Layou	t of the CV	<sup>7</sup> cross st	reak assay	7			56
4.12	Result	s of the CV	/026 cro	ss streak				57
4.13	Chrom	natogram o	f various	synthetic	AHL molecules.			58
4.14	ESI-M	IS Spectrui	n of C4-	HSL				59
4.15	ESI-M	IS Spectrui	n of 3-02	xo-C6-HS	L			59
4.16	ESI-M	IS Spectrui	n of C6-	HSL				60
4.17	ESI-M	IS Spectrui	n of 3-02	xo-C8-HS	L			60
4.18	ESI-M	IS Spectrui	n of C7-	HSL				61
4.19	ESI-M	IS Spectrui	n of C8-	HSL				61
4.20	ESI-M	IS Spectrui	m of 3-02	ко-С10-Н	SL			62
4.21	ESI-M	IS Spectrui	n of C10	-HSL				62
4.22	ESI-M	IS Spectrui	m of 3-02	ко-С12-Н	SL			63
4.23	ESI-M	IS Spectrui	m of C12	2-HSL				63
4.24	ESI-M	IS Spectrui	n of 3-02	ко-С16-Н	SL			64
4.25	ESI-M	IS Spectru	um of	AHL cru	ide extract from	n <i>Pseudom</i>	onas	65
	aerugi	<i>inosa</i> strair	n M7					
4.26	ESI-M	IS Spectru	m of A	HL crude	e extract from <i>M</i>	1ethylobacte	rium	66
	rhodes	s <i>ianum</i> stra	un F1					
4.27	Screen	ning for QC	) bacteria	a using wł	nole cell inactivat	ion assay		67
4.28	Chrom	natogram a	and ESI-	MS spec	trum of C4-HSL	( <i>m/z</i> 172.0	000,	70
	1.726	min)						

4.29 Chromatogram of C4-HSL treated with (top) *B. cereus* and (bottom) 70  $1 \times PBS$ , serving as positive control and negative control, respectively

- 4.34 Chromatogram and ESI-MS spectrum of 3-oxo-C8-HSL (*m/z* 75 241.0000, 1.175 min)
- 4.35 Chromatogram of 3-oxo-C8-HSL treated with (top) *B. cereus* and 76 (bottom) 1 × PBS, serving as positive control and negative control, respectively

- 4.37 Chromatogram and ESI-MS spectrum of 3-oxo-C12-HSL (*m/z* 78 298.0000, 1.683 min)
- 4.38 Chromatogram of 3-oxo-C12-HSL treated with (top) *B. cereus* and 79 (bottom) 1 × PBS, serving as positive control and negative control, respectively
- 4.39 Chromatogram of 3-oxo-C12-HSL treated with different isolates 80

TABLE		PAGE
2.1	AHLs-producing bacteria and the QS-regulated	8
	behaviors	
2.2	Characterization of various microbial AHL-	21
	lactonases	
2.3	Examples for various documented AHL-acylases	25
2.4	Examples of documented AHL-oxidoreductases	28
3.1	Bacterial strains used in this study	31
3.2	Plasmid used in this study	33
3.3	Oligonucleotide used in this study	33
3.4	Commercial kits used in the study	34
3.5	PCR setup for 16S rRNA gene amplication	45
4.1	Bacterial identity determined using Microflex <sup>TM</sup> LT and	48
	16S rRNA gene	

# LIST OF TABLES

# LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

%	Percent
×	Times
$\times g$	Gravity
°C	Celsius
μg	Microgram
μL	Microlittre
μm	Micron
μΜ	Micromolar
ACN	Acetonitrile
Acyl-ACP	Acetylated acyl carrier protein
A-factor	2-isocapryloyl-3R-hydroxymethyl-γ-butyrolactone
AGE	Agarose gel electrophoresis
AHL	N-acyl homoserine lactone
AI-2	Autoinducer 2
AI-3	Autoinducer-3
C12-HSL	<i>N</i> -dodecanoyl- <sub>L</sub> -homoserine lactone
C4-HSL	<i>N</i> -butanoyl- <sub>L</sub> -homoserine lactone
C6-HSL	<i>N</i> -hexanoyl- <sub>L</sub> -homoserine lactone
C7-HSL	<i>N</i> -heptanoyl- <sub>L</sub> -homoserine lactone
C8-HSL	<i>N</i> -octanoyl- <sub>L</sub> -homoserine lactone
C10-HSL	<i>N</i> -decaanoyl- <sub>L</sub> -homoserine lactone
DKP	Diketopiperazines
DMF	Dimethylformamide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid

dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
DPD	4,5-dihydroxy-2,3-pentandione
DSF	Diffusible signal factor
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EPS	Exocapsular polysaccharide
НССА	α- cyano-4-hydroxy-cinnamic acid
HHQ	2-heptyl-4-hydroxyquinolone
hr	Hour
HS Agar	Hot spring agar
HSL	Homoserine lactone
Kb	Kilobase pair
L	Littre
LB medium	Luria-Bertani medium
LCMS	Liquid chromatography mass spectrometry
LC/MS/MS-QQQ	Triple Quadrupole Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry
LuxI	Autoinducer synthase
М	Molarity
MBL	Metallo-β-lactamase
m/z	Mass to charge ration
mA	Miliampere
MALDI-TOF	Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization with time of flights
MEGA	Molecular Evolutionary Genetic Analysis
Min	Minute
Ml	Milliliter
mM	Milimolar

MOPS	3-(N-morpholino) propanesulfonic acid
MS	Mass spectrometry
N	Normality
NCBI	National center for biotechnology information
ng	Nanogram
nM	Nanomolar
3-oxo-C12-HSL	<i>N</i> -(3-oxo-dodecanoyl)- <sub>L</sub> -homoserine lactone
3-oxo-C16-HSL	<i>N</i> -(3-oxo-hexadecanoyl)- <sub>L</sub> -homoserine lactone
3-oxo-C6-HSL	<i>N</i> -(3-oxo-hexanoyl)- <sub>L</sub> -homoserine lactone
3-oxo-C8-HSL	<i>N</i> -(3-oxo-octanoyl)- <sub>L</sub> -homoserine lactone
3-oxo-C10-HSL	N-(3-oxo-decanoyl)- <sub>L</sub> -homoserine lactone
Ntn	Terminal nucleophile
OD	Optical density
PBS	Phosphate Buffer Saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PQS	Pseudomonas quinolone signal
psi	Pounds per square inch
QQ	Quorum quenching
QS	Quorum sensing
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA
S	Second
SAM	S-adenosyl-L-methionine
SOB	Super optimum broth
TBE	Tris-Boric Acid Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
TOF	Time of flight

V	Voltage
v/v	Volume per volume
w/v	Weight per volume
X-gal	5-bromo-4-chloro-indolyl-galactopyranoside
<b>3</b> OH-PAME	3-hydroxypalmitic acid methyl ester

#### CHAPTER 1.0

#### INTRODUCTION

In nature, bacteria function less as individuals and more as groups that are able to inhabit multiple ecological niches. Bacterial cell-to-cell communication, which is also commonly known as quorum sensing (QS) allows scientists to investigate the link between bacterial population density and their behaviors, the bacterial ecology as well as regulation of mechanism of bacterial phenotypes (Fuqua *et al.*, 1994; Parsek and Greenberg, 2005). It is believed that bacteria employ QS to gain maximum competition advantages, hence a group of microorganisms confer quorum quenching (QQ) – the interference of QS, to counter measure the benefits of QS, by producing AHLinactivating enzymes, such as AHL-lactonases, AHL-acylases and AHLoxidoreductases (Dong and Zhang, 2005; Hong *et al.*, 2012)

In this study, bacteria were isolated from Ulu Slim Hot Spring located in Perak, Malaysia followed by characterization of AHL molecules produced by these isolates as well as investigation of their AHL inactivation activities. Hot spring was selected as the isolation source to investigate the ubiquity of QS and QQ activities among microorganisms inhabiting hot aquatic environment. In this study, two approaches of identification were conducted, *i.e.* Microflex<sup>TM</sup> LT Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/ Ionization with Time of Flights (MALDI-TOF) Biotyper approach and 16S rRNA approach. The investigation of AHL synthesis among these isolates involved (1) detection using bacterial biosensor which designed to detect the presence of AHLs, and (2) characterization of AHL molecules produced by bacterial isolates using triple quadrupole liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS-QQQ). For the assessment of QQ activities, whole cell inactivation assay was performed using bacterial biosensor approach as well as analytical chemical investigation approach, *i.e.* LC/MS/MS-QQQ.

### **OBJECTIVES**

The main objectives of this research project include the following:

- 1. To isolate QS and QQ mesophilic bacteria from Ulu Slim Hot Spring,
- 2. To identify the isolated bacterial strains using 16S rRNA gene sequencing analysis as well as MicroFlex MALDI-TOF Biotyper,
- 3. To study AHL production from QS bacterial isolates, and
- 4. To investigate QQ activity against various AHL molecules on the isolated strains.

#### CHAPTER 2.0

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

### 2.1 Communication within the Microbial World

Bacteria were for a long time thought to exist as primitive, individual cells that sought to primarily find nutrients and multiply independently of other members of their species. This simplistic view was altered with the discovery of quorum sensing (QS).

The phrase "QS" was first coined by Fuqua *et al.* (1994) and it is generally used to describe the phenomenon whereby the accumulation of signaling molecules enables a single bacterium to sense the number of bacteria (cell density) and therefore the population as a whole can make a coordinated response (Fuqua *et al.*, 1994). In other words, the bacteria community able to perform certain bacterial behaviors efficiently when a sufficiently large population of bacteria (quorum) has achieved. Fuqua *et al.* (1994).

The discovery of QS led to the realization that bacteria are capable to coordinate activity to facilitate their adaptation to changing environmental conditions, including the competitive environments, which was once believe to be restricted to multicellular organisms. Therefore, QS allows bacteria to behave as multicellular organisms, forming a high cell density behavior, and to reap the benefits that could be unattainable to them as individuals (Schauder & Bassler, 2001). The realization that bacteria can communicate, cooperate and alter their behavior, according to changes in their social environment has led to an explosion of research in the area of microbiology.

#### 2.2 QS Signalling Molecules

For true communication to occur, two crucial conditions must be achieved: (1) one or several individuals must produce a signal that can be perceived by other individuals, and (2) the perceivers must alter their behavior in response to this signal (Keller and Surette, 2006). In the context of bacteria-to-bacteria communication, what is a QS signal? According to Diggle *et al.* (2006), there are four fundamental characteristics of QS signals - (1) the synthesis of QS signal occurs at a specific stage of growth or in response to specific environmental changes; (2) the recognition and the binding of QS signals which accumulate in the extracellular environment to the specific bacterial receptor; (3) the accumulation of the QS signal to a critical threshold concentration in order to trigger a concerted or coordinated response; (4) the cellular response extends beyond the physiological changes required to metabolize or detoxify the molecule (Diggle *et al.*, 2006; Winzer *et al.*, 2002).

Traditionally, QS molecules have been classified into two major categories - the Gram-negative's N-acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs) and the Gram-positive's oligopeptides (Lowery et al., 2008). However, it is becoming increasingly evident that bacteria are not limited by these two classes of signals, as several other structurally and chemically distinct OS molecules have been identified in both Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria, such as the 2-heptyl-3-hydroxy-4-quinolone (Pseudomonas quinolone signal) (PQS), 4-hydroxy-2-heptyl-quinoline (HHQ) (Pesci et al., 1999), diketopiperazines (DKP), furanosyl borate diester (autoinducer-2) (AI-2), autoinducer-3 (AI-3), 2-isocapryloyl-3R-hydroxymethyl-y-butyrolactone (A factor), *cis*-11-methyl-2dodecenoic acid (diffusible signal factor) (DSF) (Barber et al., 1997), 3hydroxypalmitic acid methyl ester (3OH-PAME) (Flavier et al., 1997), long-chain fatty acid derivatives (oligopeptide autoinducer) (Novick, 2003), bradyoxetin (Loh et al.,

2002) and 4,5-dihydroxy-2,3-pentandione (DPD) (Figure 2.1) (Atkinson & Williams, 2009; Williams *et al.*, 2007). The repertoire of chemical molecules that are associated with bacterial cell-cell signaling continues to grow.

Although diverse groups of QS signal molecules have been discovered, the most studied QS signaling molecules are the AHLs, which includes the *N*-acyl-<sub>L</sub>-HSL, *N*-(3-oxoacyl)-<sub>L</sub>-HSL and *N*-(3-hydroxyacyl)-<sub>L</sub>-HSL, produced by the Gram-negative bacteria (Figure 2.1). The earliest characterised example is the luminescence regulated by QS molecule in the symbiotic marine bacterium *Vibrio fischeri* which produce 3-oxo-C6-HSL (Eberhard *et al.*, 1981; Schaefer *et al.*, 1996).

AHL molecules are synthesized by autoinducer synthase (LuxI) from, substrates S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) and acetylated acyl carrier protein (Acyl-ACP) – an intermediate of fatty acid biosynthesis.

All reported AHLs are characterized with an unsubstituted group at the  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ position, and an *N*-acylated with a fatty acid acyl group at the  $\alpha$ -position (Figure 2.1) (Chhabra *et al.*, 2005). Myriad structural variants of the basic AHL molecules have been discovered and they vary in length and degree of saturation of the acyl side chain as well as in the functional group located in C3 (Decho *et al.*, 2011). In most cases, the acyl chain has even number of carbons, ranged from 4 to 18 carbons (Chhabra *et al.*, 2005). Some bacteria such as *Rhodopseudomonas palustris, Bradyrhizobium* sp. and *Silicibacter pomeroyi*, are found to produce signaling molecule *p*-coumaroyl-HSL by using environmental *p*-coumaric acid rather than fatty acids from cellular pools to produce AHLs.

### **2.3** Bacterial Communication Using AHLs

Diverse Gram-negative bacterial cells communicate with each other by using diffusible AHLs to coordinate gene expression with cell population density. Accumulation of AHLs above a threshold concentration renders the population "quorate," and the appropriate target genes are activated, contributing to the change in bacterial behavior (Fuqua *et al.*, 1994).

The production of AHLs in diverse range of Gram–negative bacteria has been reported together with their implications in regulating different cellular response and phenotypes. Examples of bacteria utilizing the AHLs as the signaling molecules were summarized in Table 2.1.





Bradyoxetin



HO.

Figure 2.1 Different classes of quorum sensing signalling molecules

# Table 2.1 AHLs-producing bacteria and the QS-regulated behaviors

Organism	LuxI	LuxR	Major	Target genes and	Reference
	homolo	homolo-	AHLs	functions	
	-gue(s)	gue (s)			
Aeromonas	AhyI	AhyR	C4-HSL	Serine protease and	Swift et
hydrophila	5	2		metalloprotease	al., 1997
				production, biofilm	
				formation	
Aeromonas	AsaI	AsaR	C4-HSL	aspA (extracellular	Swift et
salmonicida				exoprotease	al., 1997
				production)	
Agrobacteriu	TraI	TraR	3-oxo-C8-	tra, trb (Ti plasmid	Zhang <i>et</i>
т			HSL	conjugation	al., 1993
tumefaciens				transfer)	
Agrobacteriu	AvsI	AvsR	C16:1-HSL,	Virulence	Hao and
m vitis			3-oxo-		Burr, 2006
			C16:1-HSL		
Acidovorax	n.d.	n.d.	3-hydroxy-	n.d.	d'Angelo-
defluvii			C8-HSL		Picard et
					al., 2005
Acidithiobaci	AfeI	AfeR	C14-HSL	Biofilm formation,	Rivas <i>et</i>
llus				response to iron	al., 2007
ferrooxidans					
Acinetobacte	AbaI	AbaR	3-hydroxy-	csu-ecoded	Niu et al.,
r baumannii			C12-HSL	chaperone-usher	2008
				pilus assembly	
				system and the	
				biofilm formation	
Burkholderia	CepI,	CepR,	C6-HSL,	Exoenzyme,	Sokol <i>et</i>
cenocepacia		CCIK	CO-HOL	swarming motility	<i>ai.</i> , 2003; Mallot <i>et</i>
				siderphore.	<i>al.</i> , 2005
				virulence	, <del>.</del>

Table 2.1 Continue

Burkholderia cepacia	СерІ	CepR	C8-HSL	Protease & siderophore production	Lewenza <i>et al.</i> , 1999.
Burkholderia mallei	BmaI1, BmaI3	BmaR1, BmaR3, BmaR4, BmaR5	C8-HSL, 3-hydroxy- C8-HSL, C10-HSL	Virulence	Ulrich <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004b; Duerkop <i>et al.</i> , 2007
Burkholderia pseudomallei	PmlI1, PmlI2, PmlI3	PmlIR1, BpmR2, BpmR3	C8-HSL, C10-HSL, 3-hydroxy- C8-HSL, 3- hydroxy- C10-HSL, 3-hydroxy- C14-HSL	Virulence, exoproteases	Valade <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004; Ulrich <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004a
Comamonas testosteroni	n.d.	TerR	n.d.	<i>sip48</i> -β-HSD gene, steroid degradation genes (Steroid catabolic pathway)	Pruneda- Paz <i>et al.</i> , 2004
Chromobacte rium violaceum	CviI	CviR	C6-HSL	Violacein pigment, hcnABC operon, cynS, cynT operon (hydrogen cynida), phenazineantibiotic s, lasA & lasB (exoproteeases) & chitinolytic enzymes production	McClean et al., 1997
<i>Edwardsiella</i> <i>tarda</i> strain LTB-4	ExpI	ExpR	3-oxo-C6- HSL	Production of extracellular plant cell wall-degrading enzymes	Kõiv & Mäe, 2001

 Table 2.1 Continue

Erwinia carotovora	CarI	CarR	3-oxo-C6- HSL	Biosynthesis of carbapenem antibiotic	Barnard <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2007
Erwinia carotovora ssp. Carotovora	ExpI	ExpR	3-oxo-C6- HSL	<i>pecS</i> (regulator of pectinase synthesis)	Nasser et al., 1998
Erwinia chrysanthemi	EagI	EagR	3-oxo-C6- HSL	n.d.	Swift <i>et al.</i> , 1993
Enterobacter agglomerans	GinI	GinR	C10-HSL, C12-HSL, C12:1-HSL	<i>ginA</i> (growth in ethanol-containing medium, acetic acid production)	Iida <i>et al.</i> , 2008
Massilia timonae	n.d.	n.d.	5- <i>cis</i> -3-oxo- C12-HSL; 5- <i>cis</i> -C12- HSL	n.d.	Krick <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2007
Mesorhizobi um sp.	MrlI1, MrlI2, MrlI3	n.d.	C12-HSL, 3-oxo-C6- HSL, C8- HSL, C10- HSL	Symbiotic nodulation	Yang <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2009
Mesorhizobi um loti NZP2213	MsaI	MsaR	C6-HSL, C8-HSL	Extrapolysaccharid e carbohydrate production	Penalver et al., 2006
Methylobacte rium extorquens AM1	MlaI	MlaR	C14:1- HSL, C14:2-HSL	Extrapolysaccharid e carbohydrate production	Penalver et al., 2006
	Lacks of homolo gs	n.d.	C6-HSL, C- oxo-C6- HSL, C8- HSL, C10- HSL	Emergence from lag phase	Burton <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2005; Batchelor <i>et al.</i> , 1997

Nitrosomona s europaea	OprI	OprR	3-oxo-C6- HSL	n.d.	Swift <i>et al.</i> , 1999
Obesumbacte rium proteus	PagI	PagR	C4-HSL	<i>hrpL, hrpS</i> and <i>hrc</i> genes (gall formation in plant; IAA & cytokinins in regulation	Chalupowi cz <i>et al.</i> , 2009
Pantoea agglomerans pv. gypsophilae	EanI	EanR	C6-HSL,3- oxo-C6- HSL	Biosynthesis of exocapsular polysaccharide (EPS), biofilm formation, and infection of onion leaves.	Morohoshi et al., 2007
Pantoea ananatis	EsaI	EsaR	C6-HSL	Biosynthesis of stewartan and EPS	Koutsoudi s <i>et al.,</i> 2006
Pantoea stewartii	n.d.	n.d.	C16-HSL	n.d.	Schaefer et al., 2002
Paracoccus denitrificans	LasI	LasR	3-oxo-C12- HSL	<i>lasA, lasB, aprA, toxA,</i> exoprotease virulence factors and biofilm formation, RhlR expression	Latifi <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1996; Pearson <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1994; Pearson <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1995; Davis <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1998; Oinuma and Greenberg , 2011; Juhas <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004

Pseudomona	RhlI	RhlR	C4-HSL	lasB,rhlAB,	Latifi et
s aeruginosa				(rhamnolipid),	al., 1996;
				rpoS, type 4 pili,	Pearson et
				exoenzymes,	<i>al.</i> , 1994;
				lectins and	Pearson et
				pyocyanin, HCN	al., 1995;
	n.d.	QscR, VqsR	-	n.d.	Davis <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1998; Oinuma
	PhzI, CsaI	PhzR, CsaR	C6-HSL	<i>phz</i> – Phenazines antibiotic symnthesis, protease, colony morphology	and Greenberg , 2011; Juhas <i>et</i>
				aggregation	<i>al.</i> , 2004
					Wood <i>et</i>
					<i>al.</i> , 1997;
					Zhang and
					Plerson,
					2001
Pseudomona	PhzI,	PhzR,	C4-HSL,	Phenazine	Maddula
s aurefaciens	CsaI	CsaR	C6-HSL, 3-	antibiotics (phzA &	et al.,
			oxo-C6-	<i>phzB</i> ), and	2006
			HSL	antifungal activity	
Pseudomona s chlororaphis	PhzI	PhzR	3-hydroxy- C6-HSL	Phenazines synthesis	Khan <i>et al.</i> , 2005
Pseudomona s fluorescens	PpuI	PpuR	3-oxo-C10- HSL, 3- oxo-C12- HSL	Biofilm formation	Dubern <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2006
	A 1 1T	A 1, 1D	2 01	Г	<u> </u>
Pseudomona	Anii	Anik	5-0X0-C6-	EXO-	Quinones
s putida			HSL	polysaccharide,	<i>et al.</i> ,
				swimming motility,	2005
				virulence	

Pseudomona	RaiI,	RaiR,	3OH-	Growth and	Daniels et
s syringae	CinI	CinR	C14:1-HSL,	symbiotic nitrogen	al., 2002;
			3OH-(slc)-	fixation (root	Rosemeye
			HSL etc.	nodulation)	r et al.
				,	1998
Rhizobium	CinI,	CinR,	3-hydroxy-	rhiABC	Wisniews
etli	RhiI,	RhiR,	7-cis-C14-	(rhizosphere	ki-Dyé et
	RaiI	RaiR,	HSL, 7-cis-	genes), root	al., 2002;
		TraR,	C14-HSL,	nodulation/	Rodelas et
		BisR,	C6-HSL,	symbiosis,	al., 1999;
		TriR	C7-HSL,	bacteriocin,	Danino et
			C8-HSL. 3-	plasmid transfer.	al., 2003:
			oxo-C8-	growth inhibition.	Wilkinson
			HSL 3-	stationary phase	et al.
			hydroxy-	survival/ adaption	2002
			C8-HSL	auorum sensing	
				regulatory cascade	
				regulatory cuscude	
Rhizobium	SolI	SolR	C6-HSL,	n.d.	Flavier et
leguminosar			C8-HSL		al., 1997.
<i>um</i> bv viciae					
	~ ~				
Ralstonia	Gtal	n.d.	C14-HSL,	Gene transfer agent	Schaefer
solanacearu			C16-HSL	production	et al.,
т					2002
Rhodobacter	CerI	CerR	C14·1-HSI	Cellular	Puskas at
cansulatus	COII	CUIK	CI4.I-IIBL	aggregation	al 1007
cupsulailas				community escane	<i>ui.</i> , 1997
				community escape	
Rhodobacter	n.d.	n.d.	C6-HSL, 3-	n.d.	Gram <i>et</i>
sphaeroides			oxo-C6-		al., 2002
-			HSL		
Roseobacter	SmaI	SmaR	C4-HSL,	Production of	Thomson
sp.			C6-HSL	carbapenem.	et al.
F.				prodigiosin. pectate	2000
				lyase and cellulose	

Serratia sp ATCC 39006	SwrI	SwrR	C4-HSL, C6-HSL	Swarming motility; production of serrawattin, protease and S- layer protein; biofilm formation; butanediol fermentation	Eberl <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1996a; Eberl <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1996b
Serratia liquefaciens	SwrI	SwrR	C4-HSL, C6-HSL	Swarming motility; production of serrawattin, protease and S- layer protein; biofilm formation; butanediol fermentation	Eberl <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1996a; Eberl <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1996b
Serratia marce	escens				
Strain CH-1	SpnI	SpnR	C6-HSL, 3- oxo-C6- HSL, C7- HSL, C8- HSL	Sliding motility; production of biosurfactant, prodigiosin and nuclease	Horng <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2002
Strain SS-1	SmaI	SmaR	C4-HSL, C6-HSL	Swarming motility; heamolytic activity; production of caseinase and chitinase; biofilm formation	Coulthurst et al., 2006
Strain 12	SmaI	SmaR	C4-HSL, C6-HSL	Swarming motility; heamolytic activity; production of caseinase and chitinase; biofilm formation	Coulthurst et al., 2006

Serratia plymythica					
	SplI	SplR	3-hydroxy- C6-HSL, 3- hydroxy- C8-HSL	n.d.	Ovadis <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004
Strain IC1270	SplI	SplR	C4-HSL, C6-HSL, 3- oxo-C6- HSL	Production of nuclease, protease, chitinase and antibacterial compounds, butanediol fermentation	Van Houdt et al., 2007
Strain RVH1	SprI	SprR	C6-HSL, 3- oxo.C6- HSL	Production of lipase, protease, chitinase	Christense n <i>et al.</i> , 2003
Serratia proteamacul ans B5a	SinI	SinR, ExpR, TraR	C8-HSL, C12-HSL, 3-oxo-C14- HSL, 3- oxo-C16:1- HSL, C16:1-HSL, C18-HSL	Exopolysaccharide Production, symbiotic nodulation	Marketon et al., 2003
Sinorhizobiu m meliloti	n.d.	n.d.	3-hydroxy- C8-HSL	n.d.	d'Angelo- Picard <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2005

Sphingomon as agrestis	n.d.	n.d.	3-hydroxy- C8-HSL	n.d.	d'Angelo- Picard <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2005
Variovorax paradoxus	LuxI	LuxR	3-oxo-C6- HSL	<i>LuxICDABE</i> (bioluminescence)	Engebretc ht <i>et al.</i> , 1983
Vibrio fischeri	VanI, VanM, VanN	VanR	3-oxo-C10- HSL, C6- HSL, 3- hydroxy- C6-HSL	n.d.	Milton <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1997; Milton <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2001
Vibrio anguillarum	n.d.	n.d.	3-hydroxy- C4-HSL	Virulence	Dunphy et al., 1997
Xenorhabdus nematophilus	YenI	YenR, YenR2	C6-HSL, 3- oxo-C6- HSL, 3- oxo-C10- HSL, 3- oxo-C12- HSL, 3- oxo-C14- HSL	<i>fleB</i> (flagellin structural gene) expression, Swimming and swarming motility	Atkinson et al., 2006a
Yersinia enterocolitic a	YpeI	YpeR	3-oxo-C6- HSL, 3- oxo-C8- HSL	n.d.	Kirwan <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2006
Yersinia pestis	YpsI, YtbI	YpsR, YtbR	3-oxo-C6- HSL, C6- HSL, C8- HSL	Motility, clumping	Atkinson <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Atkinson <i>et al.</i> , 2008

Table 2.1 Continue

Yersinia	YukI	YukR	36-HSL, 3-	n.d.	Atkinson
pseudotuberc			oxo-C6-		et al.,
ulosis			HSL, C8-		1999
			HSL		

Legend: n.d.: not determine

### Table 2.1 Continue

### 2.4 **QS and Evolution**

Understanding altruistic behaviors of organisms as well as microorganisms is one of the challenging tasks to evolutionary biologists as natural selection appears to favour selfish and uncooperative individuals (Hamilton 1963; Hamilton 1964). Cooperation has been documented in the animal kingdom back in mid 1900's (Kropotkin, 1902; Skutch, 1935). However, the social behavior in microorganisms has only been investigated since 1990 (Shimkets, 1990).

According to several literatures, QS had been evolutionary selected for because it optimizes growth and survival at the population level (West *et al.*, 2006). This has been challenged, as there is a drawback of this form of microbial communication and cooperation, as such cooperation is vulnerable to invasion by cheaters who do not cooperate but gain the benefit from other cooperation (Diggle *et al.*, 2007). Similar condition does occur in the field of economics and human morality where it is termed as "the tragedy of the commons' (Hardin, 1968).

Hamilton's kin selection theory provides an explanation for cooperation or communication between relatives in which by helping a close relative to reproduce, this enable the passing of its own genes to the next generation, albeit indirectly (Hamilton 1963; Hamilton 1964). According to the kin selection theory, altruistic cooperation is favoured when rb-c>0, where *c* is the fitness cost to the altruist; *b* is the fitness cost to the beneficiary; and *r* is their genetic relatedness. This predicts that individuals should be more likely to cooperate when social partners are more closely related.

According to Keller and Surette, the nature of interactions through QS signalling molecules is not just solely cooperative communication. It involves other more dynamic interactions such as signalling molecules modification. Besides, these signalling molecules might play an important role in intraspecies as well as interspecies conflicts. When investigating the mechanism of bacterial responses to signalling molecules produces by other bacteria or the host, several aspects need to be taken into account, *i.e.* (1) the nature of the chemical interaction, (2) the molecular basis of the signalling molecules (speed of evolution, quantity of substances produces, specificity of the chemical), and (3) chemical molecules of the signalling molecules (Keller and Surette, 2006).

It is important to study microbiology from the perspective of ecology and evolution in order to understand QS as well as to develop bacteria as model organisms in ecology-evolution.

#### 2.5 Interference of QS

QQ is the mechanism which interferes the bacterial cell-to-cell communication or QS. Bacteria are ubiquitous, present in all niches, but the resources in almost all the niches are limited. Thus, in the condition where the bacterial population of a niche competes for limited resources, the ability to interference or disrupt QS provides the bacterial species an advantage over other that relies on QS (Dong and Zhang, 2005; Waters & Bassler, 2005).

The interference of QS can be achieved in several ways, such as (1) inhibition of AHL biosynthesis by inhibiting the enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of acyl chain (acyl-acyl carrier protein) (ACP) and *S*-adenosylmethionine synthase, (2) destruction of QS signalling molecules via enzymatic reactions, and (3) inhibition of LuxR homolog protein (QS receptors) from binding to the signalling molecules (Dong and Zhang, 2005; Hong *et al.*, 2012).

According to Dong and Zhang, there are four possible ways which the AHL molecules can be degraded or inactivated, namely lactonase, decarboxylase, acylase and deaminase (Dong and Zhang, 2005) (Figure 2.2). Of these four enzymes, only two have been discovered, which are lactonase, which hydrolyzes the ester bond of the lactone ring, and acylase, which cleaves the peptide (amide) bond of the lactone ring. According to Hong *et al.*, there are three types of enzymes which have been reported to degrade or inactivate the AHLs molecules, which are AHL-lactonase, AHL-acylase and AHL-oxidoreductase (Hong *et al.*, 2012) (Figure 2.3).



**Figure 2.2 Four possible ways of enzymatic degradation of AHL molecule.** Broken lines mark the position of possible cleavages by the following enzymes: 1. acylase; 2. deaminase; 3. decarboxylase; 4. lactonase.



Figure 2.3 Structural modification of AHL molecules via quorum quenching enzymatic reactions. AHL-lactonase (E1) cleave ester bond of lactone of the AHL (1), yielding *N*-acyl homoserine (2). Relactonization (E2) of homeserine lactone via acidification causes the formation of functional AHL molecule. Acylase (E3) cleaves the amide bond of AHL, releasing fatty acid (3a) and homoserine lactone (3b). Oxidoreductase from *Rhodococcus erythropolis* W2 and *Burkholderia* sp. GG4 (E4) inactivate AHL by substituting the oxo group at C3 position with hydroxyl group (4). CYP102A1 from *Bacillus megaterium* (E5) reduces the acyl side chain of AHL at  $\omega$ -1 (5a),  $\omega$ -2 (5b) and  $\omega$ -3 (5c) position. R1 corresponds to the side chain of the C3 position, *i.e.* 3-oxo-, 3-hydroxy- and 3-unsubstituted. R2 corresponds to the acyl side chain of AHL. n corresponds to the alkyl group.

#### 2.5.1 AHL-Lactonases

The hydrolysis homoserine lactone (HSL) of the AHL molecule, producing acyl homoserine is known as lactonolysis (Yates *et al.*, 2002). This process involves cleavage of the ester bond of the HSL ring by attacking the lactone's carbonyl followed by the elimination of an alcohol leaving group (Momb *et al.*, 2006; Momb *et al.*, 2010).

Therefore, the opening of the ring prevents the binding of the molecules to the LuxR homologs. However, the lactonolysis was found to be pH-dependent in which relactonization of the HSL ring were observed upon acidification of growth media or buffer to pH 2.0 (Yates *et al.*, 2002).

The first documentation of AHL-lactonase was AiiA, which was purified from *Bacillus* sp. strain 240B1 (Dong *et al.*, 2000). It has a 250-residue-long amino acid sequence and a conserved sequence motif of <sup>104</sup>HXHXDH<sup>109</sup>~H<sup>169</sup>, which is similar to the zinc binding motif of several metallohydrolases of metallo- $\beta$ -lactamase (MBL) superfamily of protein (Dong *et al.*, 2000). The crystal structure of AiiA from *Bacillus thuringiensis* strain BTK shows the presence of two Zn<sup>2+</sup> ions at the active centre of the enzyme (Kim *et al.*, 2005). According to Thomas *et al.* (2005) and Momb *et al.* (2008), the metal ions are essential for the cleavage of the ester bond on the lactone ring and the proper folding of the enzyme. Molecular and biochemical characterization of various reported AHL-lactonases has been reported as illustrated in Table 2.2.

Strain or	Name of	Protein	AHL degradation	Metal	Referenc
source	enzyme	Family		ion	es
				required	
1 and bastanin	A ++]\ /[	MDI	CELISI 2 ava	$7n^{2+}$	Thong of
Agrobacieriu	AllM	MBL	Co-HSL, 3-0x0-	Zn	Znang <i>ei</i>
т		superfamily	C8-HSL		al., 2002
tumefaciens					
c58					

 Table 2.2
 Characterization of various microbial AHL-lactonases
Arthrobacter	AhlD	MBL	3-oxo-C6-HSL,	$Zn^{2+}$	Park <i>et</i>
sp. IBN110		superfamily	C4-HSL, C6-HSL,		al., 2003
			C8-HSL, C10-HSL		
				2	
<i>Bacillus</i> sp.	AiiA	MBL	3-oxo-C6-HSL, 3-	$Zn^{2+}$	Dong <i>et</i>
240B1		superfamily	oxo-C8-HSL, 3-		al., 2000
			oxo-C10-HSL		
Geobacillus	GKL	Amidohydr	C6-HSL, C8-HSL,	Zn <sup>2+</sup>	Chow <i>et</i>
kaustophilus		olase	C10-HSL, 3-oxo-		al., 2010
HTA426		superfamily	C8-HSL, 3-oxo-		
			C12-HSL		
Microbacteri	AiiM	α/β	3-oxo-C6-HSL,	None	Wang et
ит		hydrolase	C6-HSL, 3-oxo-		al., 2010
testaceum		fold family	C8-HSL, C8-HSL,		
StLB037			3-oxo-C10-HSL,		
			C10-HSL		
Mycobacteri	МСР	Amidohydr	C7-HSL, C8-HSL,	Mn <sup>2+</sup>	Chow <i>et</i>
um avium		olase	3-oxo-C8-HSL,		al., 2009
subsp.		superfamily	C10-HSL. C12-		
paratubercul			HSL		
osis K-10					

Table 2.2 Continue

Mycobacteri	PPH	Amidohydr	C4-HSL, C10-HSL,	Mn <sup>2+</sup>	Afriat et
ит		olase	3-oxo-C8-HSL		al., 2006
tuberculosis		superfamily			
Ochrobactru	AidH	α/β	C4-hsl, c6-hsl, 3-	Mn <sup>2+</sup>	Mei et
<i>m</i> sp. T63		hydrolase	oxo-C6-HSL, 3-oxo-		<i>al.</i> , 2010
		fold family	C8-HSL, C10-HSL		
DI I	0.14	DEE			* *
Rhodococcus	QsdA	PTE	AHL with or without	Zn <sup>2</sup>	Uroz <i>et</i>
erythropolis	(also	superfamily	substitution on		al., 2008
W2	known		carbon 3 and with an		
	as		acyl chain ranging		
	AhlA)		from 6 to 14 carbons		
				2+	
Solibacillus	AhlS	MBL	C6-HSL, 3-oxo-C6-	$Zn^{2+}$	Morohos
silvestris		superfamily	HSL, C10-HSL, 3-		hi et al.,
StLB046			oxo-C10-HSL		2012
				21	
Sulfolobus	SsoPox	Amidohydr	C8-HSL, 3-oxo-C8-	$\operatorname{Co}^{2^+}$ &	Merone
solfataricus		olase	HSL, 3-oxo-C10-	Fe <sup>3+</sup>	et al.,
P2		superfamily	HSL, 3-oxo-C12-		2005;
			HSL		Elias <i>et</i>
					al., 2008

**Legend**: MBL: Metallo-β-lactamase; PTE: Phosphotriesterase

Table 2.2 Continue

#### 2.5.2 AHL-Acylases

AHL-acylases degrade the amide bond of a wide variety of AHL molecules yielding HSL and fatty acids (Leadbetter and Greenberg *et al.*, 2000). The first documentation of AHL-acylase was from *Variovorax paradoxus* VAI-C (Leadbetter and Greenberg, 2000). The fatty acid released is utilized as an energy source whereas the HSL released can be exploited as nitrogen source through mineralization of the lactone ring (Wang and Leadbetter, 2005; Dong *et al.*, 2007).

The second reported AHL-acylase is the AiiD from *Ralstonia* sp. XJ12B, which degrades and grows equally rapidly with short- and long-chain AHLs as sole source of carbon and nitrogen (Lin *et al.*, 2003). Shortly after the discovery of AiiD, another AHL-acylase, *i.e.* PvdQ (PA2385), from *P. aeruginosa* PA01 was reported by Huang *et al.* (2003). It is believed that the PvdQ involves in the regulation of the self-produced 3-oxo-C12-HSL. Another AHL-acylase, *i.e.* QuiP (PA1032), which is also from *P. aeruginosa* PA01was discovered in 2006 by Huang *et al.* (2006). QuiP has preference to degrade AHLs with long-chain acyl side chain (more than 6 carbons) and it is constitutively expressed during growth. The expression of QuiP, PvdQ and AHL synthases are believe to regulate the production of AHLs in order to communicate and to ensure that cell-to-cell communication is not disrupted (Huang *et al.*, 2006). Table 2.3 illustrated the various examples of AHL-acylases discovered in various microorganisms.

# Table 2.3 Examples for various documented AHL-acylases

Strain or	Name of	Protein	AHL degradation	References
source	enzyme	family		
Anabaena sp.	AiiC	n.d.	AHLs with or without	Romero et al.,
PCC7120			substitution on carbon 3	2008
			and with an acyl side chain	
			ranging from 4 to 14	
			carbons	
Comamonas	n.d.	n.d.	AHLs with or without	Uroz <i>et al.</i> ,
sp. D1			substitution on carbon 3	2007
			and with an acyl side chain	
			ranging from 4 to 16	
			carbons	
Pseudomonas	PvdQ	Ntn-	AHLs with or without	Huang et al.,
aeruginosa		hydrolase	substitution on carbon 3	2003; Sio et
PA01			and with an acyl side chain	al., 2006
			ranging from 10 to 14	
			carbons	
	0 iB			<b>XX 1</b>
Pseudomonas	QuiP	Ntn-	AHLs with or without	Huang <i>et al.</i> ,
aeruginosa		hydrolase	substitution on carbon 3	2006
PA01			and with an acyl side chain	
			ranging from 7 to 14	
			carbons	

Pseudomonas	HacA	Ntn-	C8-HSL, C10-HSL, C12-	Shepherd et
syringae		hydrolase	HSL	al., 2009
B728a				
Pseudomonas	HacB	Ntn-	AHLs with or without	Shepherd et
syringae		hydrolase	substitution on carbon 3	al., 2009
B728a			and with an acyl side chain	
			ranging from C6 to C12	
Ralstonia sp.	AiiD	Ntn-	3-oxo-C8-HSL, 3-oxo-	Lin et al., 2003
XJ12B		hydrolase	C10-HSL, 3-oxo-C12-HSL	
			(less activity against 3-oxo-	
			C6-HSL)	
Ralstonia	Aac	nd	C7-HSI C8-HSI 3-oxo-	Chen <i>et al</i>
Raisionia	The	m.u.		chen et u.,
solanacearum			C8-HSL, C10-HSL	2009
GMI1000				
Rhodococcus	n.d.	n.d.	3-oxo-C10-HSL	Uroz <i>et al.</i> ,
erythropolis				2005
W2				
Showanalla	100	nd		Marahashi at
Snewanella	Aac	11. <b>u</b> .		
sp. MIB015			HSL	<i>al.</i> , 2008
Streptomyces	AhlM	Ntn-	C8-HSL, C10-HSL, 3-oxo-	Park <i>et al.</i> ,
sp. M664		hydrolase	C12-HSL	2005

 Table 2.3 Continue

Variovorax	n.d.	n.d.	C4-HSL, C6-HSL, 3-oxo-	Leadbetter and
paradoxus			C6-HSL C8-HSL, C10-	Greenberg,
VAI-C			HSL, C12-HSL, C14-HSL	2000

Legend: n.d.: not determine; Ntn: N-terminal nucleophile

Table 2.3 Continue

## 2.5.3 AHL-Oxidoreductases

AHL-oxidoreductase was first reported in 2005 by Uroz *et al.*, in which the *Rhodococcus erythropolis* W2 reduces the keto group of 3-oxo-AHLs to the corresponding 3-hydroxy derivatives (Uroz *et al.*, 2005). Unlike AHL-lactonases and AHL-acylases, no destruction of the AHL structure is observed but in turn signal disturbance of bacteria that depend on oxo-AHLs for regulation of QS-mediated gene expression was resulted (Chan *et al.*, 2011).

Unlike *R. erythropolis* W2 which first modifies the AHLs through an oxidoreductase activity followed by degradation of the modified AHLs, namely hydroxyl-AHLs, through an amidolytic activity, *Burkholderia* sp. GG4 does not degrade the modified AHL. While other bacteria may still able to use the modified AHL as QS molecules, the producer of this oxo-AHL will be deprived of its cognate QS oxo-AHL to bind to its LuxR receptor (Chan *et al.*, 2011). This phenomenon is known as "signalling confusion" which does not involve destruction of the AHL structures (Hong *et al.*, 2012). Table 2.4 illustrated the examples of AHL-oxidoreductases.

## Table 2.4 Examples of documented AHL-oxidoreductases

Strain	Taxonomy	AHL degradation	Reference
	(class)		
Bacillus	Firmicutes	Oxidizes C12-HSL to C20-HSL	Chowdhary et
megaterium		to corresponding $\omega$ -1, $\omega$ -2 and/or	al., 2007
CYP102A1		ω-3 hydroxylated AHLs	
Burkholderia	Proteobacteria	Reduces 3-oxo-AHLs to	Chan et al.,
sp. GG4		corresponding 3-hydroxy	2011
		derivatives	
Rhodococcus	Actinobacteria	Converts C8-HSL to C14-HSL to	Uroz <i>et al.</i> ,
erythropolis		corresponding 3-hydroxy	2005
W2		derivatives	

## 2.6 More Than Just Interference of Communication

QQ enzymes have been thought solely play an important role in interfering QS in order to ensure success in competition for the limited natural resources (Czakowski and Jafra, 2009). This has been proved by Park *et al.* in which *aiiA*-defective *B*. *thuringiensis* has a relatively lower survival rate, competency and adaptability compared to the wild type (Park *et al.*, 2008).

Besides playing an important role in microbial competition, the QQ enzyme is believed to be part of the microbial carbon and nitrogen metabolism mechanism where the QQ enzymes break the AHL molecules apart followed by downstream degradation by other enzymes. The products of these series of enzymatic degradation are carbon and nitrogen compounds which required for growth. This postulation was derived from several experiments where several QQ bacterial strains, such as *V. paradoxus*, *Arthrobacter* sp. and *N. kongjuensis*, able to growth on medium with AHLs as the sole source of carbon and nitrogen (Leadbetter and Greenberg, 2000; Park *et al.*, 2003; Yoon *et al.*, 2006).

According to Haudecoeur and Faure (2009), two lactonases, *i.e.* AttM and AiiB, *in A. tumefaciens* involved in the regulation of QS-mediated gene expression such as conjugation, transfer of Ti plasmid and production of virulence factor. Similarly, two acylases in *P. aeruginosa*, *i.e.* PvdQ and QuiP, may also play an important role in regulated QS-regulated activities, such as production of virulence factor, biosynthesis and maturation of pyoverdine siderophore, regulation of AHLs production and iron homeostasis (Lehoux *et al.*, 2000; Huang *et al.*, 2003; Jimenez *et al.*, 2010).

The accumulation of 3-oxo-AHLs will lead to the formation of tetramic acid derivatives, which is a bactericidal agent against Gram-positive bacteria as well as a primordial siderophore that chelate diverse metal cations. The inactivation of AHL molecules via lactonases of *Bacillus* sp. will prevent the formation of tetramic acid derivatives, playing an important role in controlling the toxicity effects of AHLs (Kaufmann *et al.*, 2005).

According to Rashid *et al.* (2011), *Chryseobacterium* which isolated from plant might play a crucial role in providing protection to its host as the secreted QQ enzyme produced interferes the bacterial communication. Thus, this bacterial species helps in preventing the plant pathogen from invading the host.

In a nutshell, several roles of QQ enzymes have been proposed, from interference of QS to metabolism of AHL as the source of carbon and nitrogen, from regulation of QS-mediated gene expression to detoxification, and symbiotic interaction with the host. A huge number of QQ enzymes where their role remain a mystery. Hence, further investigation is needed to gain insight into the role of QQ enzymes.

# CHAPTER 3.0

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 3.1 Materials

# 3.1.1 Bacterial Strains, Plasmid and Oligonucleotides

Bacterial strains used in this study were illustrated in Table 3.1. Table 3.2 and 3.3 showed the plasmid as well as primers used in this study, respectively.

# Table 3.1Bacterial strains used in this study

Bacterial strain	Description	Source/ Reference
Bacillus cereus	AHL-lactonase producing bacteria	Dr Chan Kok Gan,
	which inactivate AHL molecules by	Department of
	hydrolyzing the lactone ring, serving	Genetics and
	as positive control in AHL	Molecular Biology,
	inactivation assay.	Malaya University.
Chromobacterium	Double mini-Tn5 mutant derived	McClean <i>et al.</i> ,
<i>violaceum</i> strain	from Chromobacterium violaceum	1997
CV026	ATCC 31532, Hg <sup>R</sup> , <i>cviI</i> ::Tn5 <i>xylE</i> ,	
	Kan <sup>R</sup> , Sm <sup>R</sup> , violacein-negative, white	
	mutant, defective in the production	
	of AHL. It serves as AHL biosensor	
	with the formation of purple	
	violacein pigment in the presence of	
	exogenous short chain AHLs.	

Erwinia carotovora	AHL-producing mutant that serve as	Dr Chan Kok Gan,
strain Attn	the positive control in quorum	Department of
	sensing assay.	Genetics and
		Molecular Biology,
		University of
		Malaya
Erwinia carotovora	Mutant strain which defective for	Dr Chan Kok Gan,
strain A20	AHL production	Department of
		Genetics and
		Molecular Biology,
		University of
		Malaya
Escherichia coli strain	F, φ80dlacZΔM15, Δ( <i>lac</i> ZYA- <i>arg</i> F)	Sambrook et al.,
DH5a	U169, $deoR$ , $recA1$ , $endA1$ ,	1989
	$hsdR17(r_{\kappa}^{-}, m_{\kappa}^{+}), phoA, supE44, \lambda^{-},$	
	thi1, gyrA96, relA1, nalidixic acid	
	resistant. It serves as negative control	
	in AHL inactivation assay as it does	
	not possess AHL-degrading ability.	

Table 3.1 Continue

Bacterial strains *E. carotovora*, *C. violaceum* and *B. cereus* were cultivated in Luria-Bertani (LB) medium at 28°C. Bacterial strain *E. coli* DH5α was cultured in LB medium at 37°C.

Plasmid	Description	Source/ Reference
pGEM®-T Easy Vector	F1 ori, Amp <sup>R</sup> , SP6 and T7	Promega
	promoters, used as cloning vector	

# Table 3.2Plasmid used in this study

Table 3.3	Oligonucleotide used in this	study
		•/

Primer	Description	Length (-mer)/
		Reference
16S rRNA forward	5' – AGA GTT TGA TCM TGG	20, Ott et al., 2004
primer 27F	CTC AG – 3'	
16S rRNA reverse	5' – AAG GAG GTG WTC CAR	17, Dewhirst et al.,
primer 1525R	CC – 3'	1999
16S rRNA forward	5' GTG CCA GCA GCC GCG GTA	19, Kotilainen et
primer 515F	A – 3'	<i>al.</i> , 1998
SP6 Promoter	5' – ATT TAG GTG ACA CTA	18, Universal
	TAG – 3'	primer
T7 Promoter	5' – TAA TAC GAC TCA CTA	20, Universal
	TAG GG – 3'	primer

**Legend**: M = A + C; W = A + T; R = A + G

# 3.1.2 Chemical Reagents

All chemical reagents used in this study were of highest grade, purchased form Merck, Germany; Promega Ltd., USA; Sigma Chemical Crop., USA; BD Difco<sup>TM</sup> Laboratories, USA; BDH Ltd., England, Illumina, USA; Qiagen Pty. Ltd., Germany; iNtRON Biotechnology Inc., Korea; Cayman Chemical Company, USA.

# 3.1.3 Commercial Kits

The commercial kits used in this study are described in Table 3.4.

Commercial kit	ts used in	the study
	Commercial kit	Commercial kits used in

Commercial kits (manufacturer)	Application	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
MasterPure <sup>TM</sup> Gram Positive DNA Purification	Extraction of genomic DNA	
Kit and MasterPure <sup>TM</sup> DNA Purification Kit		
Kit and Wasterfule DNA Furnication Kit		
(Epicentre® Biotechnologies, USA)		
$i-Taq^{TM}$ DNA polymerase kit (iNtRON	PCR amplification	
Biotechnology Inc., Korea)		
QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen Pty. Ltd.,	Purification of amplified DNA	
Germany)	from agarose gel	
() () () () () () () () () () () () () (		
pGEM®T Easy Vector System (Promega,	Cloning of targeted gene and	
USA)	transform into host	
QIAquick Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen Pty. Ltd.,	Plasmid DNA extraction	
Germany)		
- 1		

## 3.1.4 Growth Media and Buffer Solutions

All media were sterilized by autoclaving at 121°C, 15 psi for 20 min, unless stated otherwise. Heat-labile solutions were sterilized by membrane filtration with syringe filter at pore size of 0.22 µm.

## 3.1.4.1 Luria-Bertani (LB) Medium

LB broth was prepared according to Sambrook *et al.* (1989), consisting of 1.0% w/v trypton, 1.0% w/v sodium chloride (NaCl) and 0.5% w/v yeast extract in 1.0 L of distilled water. LB agar was prepared by adding 1.5% w/v Bacto<sup>TM</sup> Agar (BD) to the LB broth. For extraction of AHL molecules, bacterial isolates were grown in LB broth buffered with 50 mM of 3-(*N*-morpholino) propanesulfonic acid (MOPS) to pH 6.5 in order to maintain the acidity of the bacterial culture. Elevation of pH to above pH 7.0 will trigger lactonolysis of AHL molecules (Yates *et al.*, 2002). All ingredients were dissolved in distilled water and autoclaved.

## 3.1.4.2 Super Optimal Broth (S.O.B) Medium

S.O.B. medium was prepared as described in Sambrook *et al.* (1989), consisting of 2.0% w/v tryptone, 0.5% w/v yeast extract, 10 mM NaCl and 2.5 mM of potassium chloride (KCl) in 1.0 L of distilled water. After autoclave sterilization, addition of filter-sterilized magnesium sulfate (MgSO<sub>4</sub>) to the final concentration of 20 mM (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989).

#### 3.1.4.3 S.O.C. Medium

S.O.C. medium was prepared by addition of filter-sterilized D-glucose into S.O.B. to the final concentration of 10 mM (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989).

## 3.1.4.4 Hot Spring Water Growth Medium (HS Agar)

In order to capture and cultivate greater diversity of bacteria that inhabit in the hot spring, a new growth medium was prepared. It consists of 0.1% w/v glucose and 0.1% w/v casamino acid in 1.0 L of filtered hot spring water. All ingredients were dissolved in hot spring water and autoclaved.

## 3.1.4.5 1 × Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS)

PBS solution consisted of 154 mM NaCl, 2 mM monosodium phosphate (NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>), 8.5 mM disodium phosphate (Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>) and 2.7 mM KCl in 1.0 L of distilled water. The solution pH was adjusted to pH 6.5 before autoclaving.

## 3.1.4.6 5 × Tris Borate EDTA (TBE) Buffer

The 5 × TBE solution consisted of 445.76 mM Tris base, 444.77 mM boric acid (H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>) and 10 mM Na<sub>2</sub>EDTA·2H<sub>2</sub>O in 1.0 L of distilled water with pH adjusted to 8.0 prior to autoclaving. To prepare 1 × TBE solution, the 5 × TBE solution was diluted five times with distilled water.

# 3.1.5 Synthetic N-Acyl Homoserine Lactone

Synthetic AHL were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich® (USA) and Cayman Chemical Company (USA). AHLs were dissolved with acetonitrile (ACN) to targeted concentration and kept in  $-20^{\circ}$ C.

## 3.1.6 Ampicillin Solution

Ampicillin was dissolved in sterile distilled water, yielding final concentration of 100 mg/ml. The antibiotic solution was filter-sterilized and kept in microcentrifuge tubes followed by storage at  $-20^{\circ}$ C.

# 3.1.7 5-Bromo-4-Chloro-3-Indolyl-β-D-Galactopyranoside (X-gal) Solution

X-gal powder was dissolved in dimethylformamide (DMF), yielding final concentration of 20 mg/ml. The solution was filter-sterilized and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C.

#### 3.1.8 DNA Size Reference Marker/ DNA Ladder

The GeneRuler<sup>TM</sup> 1 kb DNA ladder (Fermentas Int. Inc., Canada) was used in this study.

#### 3.2 Methods

### 3.2.1 Sampling

Water from Ulu Slim Hot Spring was collected on October 2011. The GPS position of the sampling site was at N 3°53'55'', E 101°29'52''. A total of 600 mL of hot spring water was collected using autoclaved scotch bottles from three points of the hot spring as replicates and transported back to the laboratory within 3 hours. The pH value and the temperature of the hot spring water were measured.

## 3.2.2 Isolation of Environmental Bacteria

A ten-fold serial dilution was performed on the collected hot spring water, using 1  $\times$  PBS as the diluent. Next, a total of 100 µL of diluted hot spring water was spread onto LB agar as well as HS agar, followed by incubation at 37°C for 5 consecutive days. Subsequently, isolation procedure was performed by selection of single bacterial colonies displaying distinctive morphologies. The bacterial isolates were streaked on until pure colonies were obtained. Pure bacterial isolates were proceeded to Gram staining and examination under the Olympus 1X71-22FL/PH microscope. Gram type of bacteria were determined and micrographs were captured using Olympus Cell^D Imaging System.

# 3.2.3 Bacterial Identification using Microflex<sup>TM</sup> LT

The identities of the bacterial isolates were determined via direct smear method on a Bruker Microflex LT with the biotyping software. Bacterial colonies of fresh overnight culture were applied on polished steel MSP 96 target polished steel BC plate (Bruker Daltonics). The smeared bacterial isolates were overlaid with 1  $\mu$ L of  $\alpha$ - cyano-4-hydroxy-cinnamic acid (HCCA) matrix. The suspensions were air dried at room temperature prior to analysis using Microflex LT and MALDI-TOF BioTyper (version 3.1) software package (Bruker Daltonik GmbH). The results of analysis were considered valid whenever the acquired score were above 2.00. When the acquired score was less than 2.00, the sample was proceeded to protein extraction method, where bacterial colony was suspended in 300  $\mu$ L of distilled water, 900  $\mu$ L of absolute ethanol was added, and the components were mixed well. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 12,500 × *g* for 2 min. The supernatant was discarded and the cell pellet was suspended in 80  $\mu$ L of 70% formic acid. Subsequently, 80  $\mu$ L of ACN was added and the suspension was centrifuged at 12,500 × *g* for 2 min. Finally, 1  $\mu$ L of supernatant was spotted onto MSP 96 target plate and air dried at room temperature before it was overlaid with 1  $\mu$ L of HCCA matrix followed by analysis (Eigner *et al.*, 2008).

### 3.2.4 Detection of N-Acyl Homoserine Lactone (AHL) Production

#### **3.2.4.1 Detection of AHL Production using Biosensors**

Bacteria were screen for the presence of short chain AHLs using cross streaking approach with the biosensor *C. violeceum* strain CV026. *E. carotovora* strain Attn served as positive control while *E. carotovora* strain A20 served as negative control (Section 3.1.1). The production of purple pigment by CV026 after one day incubation at 28 °C indicates the production of short chain AHL by the bacteria (Chan *et al.*, 2011).

#### **3.2.4.2 AHL Extraction**

Bacterial isolates with positive results are Section 3.2.4.1 was cultured in 100 mL of LB broth, supplemented with 50 mM of MOPS and incubated in a shaking incubator with 200 rpm agitation at 37 °C for 16 to 18 h. The bacterial culture was centrifuged at maximum speed, collecting only the cell-free supernatant for AHL extraction. The cell-free supernatant was extracted twice with equal volume of acidified ethyl acetate (containing 0.1 % v/v glacial acetic acid). The crude extract was concentrated to dryness and stored in -20 °C (Chan *et al.*, 2011).

# 3.2.4.3 Triple Quadrupole Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (LC/MS/MS-QQQ) Analysis

The crude extract from Section 3.2.4.2 was resuspended in 500  $\mu$ l of ACN and centrifuge at maximum speed for 10 min. A total of 100  $\mu$ l of the resuspended crude extract was placed into the insert.

Synthetic AHLs, *e.g. N*-butanoyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone (C4-HSL), *N*-hexanoyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone (C6-HSL), *N*-(3-oxo-hexanoyl)-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone (3-oxo-C6-HSL), *N*-heptanoyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone (C7-HSL), *N*-octanoyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone (C8-HSL), *N*-(3-oxo-octanoyl)-L-homoserine lactone (3-oxo-C8-HSL), *N*-decanoyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone (C10-HSL), *N*-(3-oxo-decanoyl)-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone (3-oxo-C10-HSL), *N*-dodecanoyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone (C12-HSL), *N*-(3-oxo-dodecanoyl)-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone (3-oxo-C12-HSL) and *N*-hexadecanoyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone (3-oxo-C16-HSLs), were used as standard. The stock solutions for these synthetic AHLs (1 g/L) were dissolved in ACN and stored at -20 °C (Wong *et al.*, 2013).

The chemical separation system applied was Agilent 1290 Infinity UHPLC System, coupled with Agilent ZORBAX Rapid Resolution High Definition SB-C18 Threaded Column (2.1 mm  $\times$  50 mm, 1.8 µm particle size). The flow rate was adjusted to 0.5 mL/min at 37°C, and the injection volume was 1 µL. The mobile phase used in this experiment was water with 0.1 % v/v formic acid and acetronitrile. The gradient profile applied was as follows (time; water with formic acid: acetronitrile): 0 min; 80:20. 7 min: 50:50, 12 min; 20:80, and 14 min; 80:20. The MS detection from UHPLC separated compounds was performed using Agilent 6490 Triple Quadrupole LC/ MS System. The probe capillary voltage was set at 3 kV, flow of sheath gas was set at 11 mL/h with the nebulizer pressure of 20 psi. The desolvation temperature was set at 200 °C.

The experiment was conducted using precursor-ion scanning mode. Positive ion mode was applied with Q3 set to monitor for m/z value of 102 and Q1 was adjusted to scan a mass range from m/z 80 to m/z 400. The Agilent MassHunter – Qualitative Analysis (Version B.05.00) was used for the MS data analysis. The analysis was based on precursor ion, product ion, retention index, and the comparison of electron ionization (EI) of mass spectrum of the synthetic AHLs. Coupling with the presence if targeted precursor ion and the chemical fingerprinting, the molecular mass of m/z 102 confers the presence of homoserine lactone of AHL molecules.

#### 3.2.5 Detection of AHL Inactivation Bioactivities

#### **3.2.5.1 Whole Cell AHL Inactivation Assay**

Detection of AHL degradation exhibited by the bacterial isolates was performed using biosensor *C. violeceum* strain CV026. *E. coli* DH5 $\alpha$  and 1 × PBS solution were used as the negative controls while the *B. cereus* served as the positive control of this experiment.

Overnight culture of bacterial isolates were adjusted to  $OD_{600 \text{ nm}}$  of 1 using sterile LB broth. A total of 10 mL of the adjusted bacterial culture was centrifuged at 10,625 × *g* for 10 min. The cell pellet was resuspended in 1 mL of 1 × PBS (pH 6.5) followed by centrifugation and removal of supernatant. The cell pellet was again resuspended with 300 µL of 1 × PBS (pH 6.5) forming the resting cell needed for the experiment.

Appropriate amount of targeted AHL was dispensed into microcentrifuge tubes and allowed to evaporate prior to addition of 300  $\mu$ L resting cells, reconstitute the AHL to the final concentration of 0.2  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ L. The mixture of AHL and bacterial cell suspension was then incubated at 37 °C, except *B. cereus* which was incubated at 28 °C with shaking at 220 rpm. Aliquot of 100  $\mu$ L of cell suspension was withdrawn at 0 h, 24 h and 48 h followed by heat inactivation at 95 °C for 5 min. After the second aliquot at 24<sup>th</sup> h, equal volume of 0.2 N HCl was added into the cell suspension followed by incubation and heat inactivation at the 48<sup>th</sup> h.

A total of 300 mL of LB agar was seeded with 100 mL of overnight culture of *C*. *violeceum* strain CVO26 and allowed to solidify at room temperature. Aliquot of 10  $\mu$ L from the 0<sup>th</sup> h and 24<sup>th</sup> h AHL-cell suspension mixture, and 20  $\mu$ L from the 48<sup>th</sup> h AHLcell suspension mixture, were progressively dispensed onto paper discs placed on the solidified LB agar with *C. violeceum* strain CV026, followed by overnight incubation. The presence of the purple colour zone indicates the presence of AHL molecule, and *vice versa*. The presence of purple zone at the 0<sup>th</sup> h but absence in the 24<sup>th</sup> h indicates the degradation of AHL. The absence of purple zone in the 24<sup>th</sup> h but presence of purple zone in the 48<sup>th</sup> h indicates the mechanism of AHL degradation is due to AHL-lactonase. The purple colour zone at the  $48^{th}$  h was due to relactonization of *N*-acyl homoserine (Yates *et al.*, 2002)

## 3.2.5.2 Investigation of QQ activities using LC/MS/MS-QQQ

Sample preparation for LC/MS/MS-QQQ required whole cell inactivation assay as describe in Section 3.2.5.1, with the exception of substituting the heat inactivation protocol with the addition of two times volume of ethyl acetate. The cell suspension was extracted with ethyl acetate twice. The crude extract was evaporated to dryness. LB agar seeded with *C. violeceum* strain CV026 was not needed in this experiment. The crude extract was resuspended with 100  $\mu$ L acetronitrile and centrifuge for 10 min at maximum speed. A total of 90  $\mu$ L of crude extract was placed into the insert prior to mass spectrometry analysis. Synthetic AHL was used as the standard.

The chemical separation system applied was Agilent 1290 Infinity UHPLC System, coupled with Agilent Poroshell 120 EC-C18 column (4.6 mm × 100 mm, 2.7  $\mu$ m) with elution procedure consisted of an isocratic profile of acetronitrile/ water with 0.1 % formic acid (35:65, v/v) for short chain AHLs and acetronitrile/ water with 0.1 % formic acid (65:35, v/v) for long chain AHLs. A constant flow rate of 0.5 mL/min was applied At 37 °C. The parameter setting of MS was similar to Section 3.2.4.3 and the analysis was performed using Agilent MassHunter–Qualitative Analysis (Version B.05.00) (Chong *et al.*, 2012).

#### 3.2.6 Molecular Identification of Bacterial Isolates

### **3.2.6.1 Genomic DNA Extraction**

Bacterial isolates were inoculated into 10 mL of LB broth and incubated in a shaking incubator with 200 rpm agitation at 37 °C. The bacterial cells were harvested by centrifugation at 8,421 × g for 10 min. The cell pellet was proceeded for DNA extraction using MasterPure<sup>TM</sup> DNA Purification Kit for Gram-negative bacterial isolates and MasterPure MasterPure<sup>TM</sup> Gram Positive DNA Purification Kit (for Grampositive bacterial isolates) (Epicentre® Biotechnologies, USA) for Gram-positive bacteria.

## 3.2.6.2 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) Amplification

The 16S rRNA gene of bacterial isolates was selected for the purpose of bacterial identification. Amplification of the gene involved forward primer 27F and 1525R as the reverse primer, yielding the amplicon of approximately 1.5 kb in length. The reagents from *i-Taq*<sup>TM</sup> DNA polymerase kit (iNtRON Biotechnology Inc., Korea) were used for the setup of the PCR mixtures. The amounts for each components used in the PCR mixture were illustrated in Table 3.5. The PCR thermal profile for the 16S rRNA gene amplification was as follow: initial denaturation at 94 °C for 5 min, followed by 30 cycles of amplification process consist of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 s, annealing at 58 °C to 63 °C for 30 s, extension at 72 °C for 90 s, and lastly the final extension protocol of 72 °C for 5 min. A negative control was included for each gene amplification experiment by substituting the bacterial genomic DNA with autoclaved ultrapure water (Merck Millipore, Germany) (Chong *et al.*, 2012).

# Table 3.5PCR setup for 16S rRNA gene amplification

PCR Component	Volume per sample (µL)
Ultrapure water	9.9
$10 \times buffer containing 2 mM MgCl_2$	1.5
dNTP (200 μM)	1.2
<i>Taq</i> polymerase (5 U/µL)	0.2
27F forward primer (10 μM)	0.6
1525R reverse primer (10 μM)	0.6
Genomic DNA (~1 ng)	1.0
Total volume	15.0

# 3.2.6.3 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis (AGE)

AGE was performed using horizaontal 1.0 % w/v agarose gel, submerged in 1 × TBE buffer. The gel was pre-stained with 0.5 mg/mL of ethidium bromide (EtBr). The AGE was carried out at 80 V, 400 mA and 40 min. The stained agarose gel was visualized on UVP ultraviolet transilluminator. The desired DNA band(s) was determined by comparing the size of DNA band to 1 kb DNA ladder (Fermentas).

## 3.2.6.4 Gene Cloning, Transformation and Gene Sequencing

The desired band on the agarose gel was excised and purified using QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen Pty. Ltd., Germany) and proceeded to gene cloning using pGEM®T Easy Vector System (Promega, USA). Experiments were conducted according to the manufacturer's protocol. The ligation product was transformed into the competent cell via heat-shock protocol. The chemically competent cells were prepared according to Sambrook *et al.*, 1989. The transformed cells were incubated at 37 °C for 1 h with shaking at 150 rpm. A total of 100  $\mu$ L of the transformed cell culture was spread onto LB agar supplemented with 100  $\mu$ g/mL of X-gal followed by the incubated at 37 °C for 18 h.

Selection of successful transformants carrying the recombinant plasminds containing the desired 16S rRNA amplicons involved the blue/ white selection. Only the white colonies were selected and followed by PCR which used the bacterial colony as the template of genomic DNA. PCR was performed as stated in Section 3.2.5.2 with modification. The primers used were T7 forward primer and SP6 reverse primer. The initial denaturation at 94 °C was extended to 10 min. The thermal profile of primer annealing phase was 58 °C for 30 s. For each PCR reaction, 10.9  $\mu$ L of ultrapure water was used.

Colony which shown positive results for 16S rRNA gene cloning was cultured in LB broth supplemented with 100  $\mu$ g/mL of amplicillin. The culture was incubated in a shaking incubator with 200 rpm agitation at 37 °C for 16 to 18 h followed by plasmid extraction using QIAquick Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen Pty. Ltd., Germany). The extracted plasmid was stored at -20 °C.

Sequencing analysis of extracted recombinant plasmid was outsourced to 1<sup>st</sup> Base (Malaysia) with 16S rRNA 515F forward primer, M13F forward primer and M13R reverse primer as the sequencing primers. The gene sequences were then visualized using Applied Biosystem Sequence Scanner (v1.0), The sequences were then compared with those in the GenBank databases using BLASTN programme through the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) server (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) (Altschul *et al.*, 1990). The identities of the bacterial isolates were evaluated based on the nearest identity to those deposited in the databases.

Phylogenetic analysis was performed using Molecular Evolutionary Genetic Analysis (MEGA) (version 5.2), in which the neighbor joining algorithm with bootstrap value of 1000 and maximum composite likelihood method was applied (Tamura *et al.*, 2011).

# **CHAPTER 4.0**

# RESULTS

# 4.1 Bacteria Identification using Microflex<sup>TM</sup> LT Biotyper

A total of 18 strains of bacteria have been isolated from the mesophilic region of the Ulu Slim Hot Spring. Only one bacterial isolate, *i.e.* strain F1, grow one the HS agar, while the rest were isolated from LB agar. All the isolated bacteria were proceeded for Microflex<sup>TM</sup> LT MALDI-TOF bacterial identification. The results were shown in Table 4.1.

Bacterial	Bacterial identity based on	Score in Microflex <sup>TM</sup>
Isolate	Microflex <sup>TM</sup>	LT
CN12	Kocuria rhizophila	2.111
CN14	Rhodotorula mucilaginosa	1.889
F1	Methylobacterium rhodesianum	2.159
F2	Stenotrophomonas maltophila	1.923
M3	n.d.	n.d.
M7	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	2.425
M18	Pseudomonas otitidis	2.457
M22	Providencia rettgeri	2.025
M25	Dermacoccus nishinomiyaensis	1.687

Table 4.1 Bacterial identity determined using Microflex<sup>TM</sup> LT and 16S rRNA gene

M27	n.d.	n.d.
M30	Cronobacter sakazakii	2.133
M31	Exiguobacterium aurantiacum	1.977
M40	Brevibacterium casei	2.381
M45	Gordonia aichiensis	1.763
M48	Proteus mirabilis	2.463
M52	Bacillus megaterium	2.325
M66	Roseomonas mucosa	2.004
M71	Micrococcus luteus	2.383

**Legend**: n.d. = not determined

# Table 4.1 Continue

# 4.2 Molecular Identification of Isolates

The phylogenetic tree of the 16S rRNA gene sequences were constructed using MEGA (version 5.2). The algorithm used was neighbour-joining method with bootstrap value of 1,000. An appropriate outgroup sharing a distantly related taxon that is yet sufficiently conserved to each of the ingroup taxa was assigned to produce a rooted tree. Phylogenetic analysis supporting the identification of each isolates were shown in Figure 4.1 to Figure 4.10.





rhodesianum F1





**M7** 



Figure 4.3 16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of *Pseudomonas otitidis* 

M18



Figure 4.4 16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Gordonia sp. M45



Figure 4.5 16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Bacillus megaterium M52



Figure 4.6 16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Roseomonas sp. M66

There are several isolates with relatively lower score or unidentified using Microflex<sup>TM</sup> LT, such as strain F2, M3, M27 and M31. Therefore, 16S rRNA gene amplification and sequencing was performed in order to determine the identities of the isolates.



Figure 4.7 16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Stenotrophomonas

maltophila F2.



# Figure 4.8 16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Chelatococcus daeguensis

M3. The identity of this bacterial strain was unable to be determined using  $Microflex^{TM}$ 

LT. 16S rRNA gene of this strain has reveal it relativity to Chelatococcus daeguensis.



Figure 4.9 16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of Schineria sp. M27. The

identity of this bacterial strain was unable to be determined using Microflex<sup>TM</sup> LT. 16S rRNA gene of this strain has reveal it relativity to *Schineria* sp.



Figure 4.10 16S rRNA gene based phylogenetic analysis of *Exigiobacterium* sp. M31.

## 4.3 Detection of AHL Production

#### 4.3.1 Detection of AHL Production using Biosensor

Production of purple colour pigment, *i.e.* violacein, of the biosensor *C. violaceum* strain CV026 was induced by the presence of exogenous short chain AHLs (McClean *et al.*, 1997). *E. carotovora* Attn which carries the functional *carI* gene responsible for the production of OC6-HSL served as the positive control for this assay. The *carI* defective mutant *E. carotovora* A20 served as the negative control. Among all the tested bacterial isolated, only *P. aeruginosa* strain M7 induced the purple pigment formation of CV026 (Figure 4.12).



Figure 4.11 Layout of the CV cross streak assay. S represents the biosensor *C*. *violaceum* strain CV026. A represents the bacterial isolates from this study. B and C represent positive control (*E. carotovora* strain Attn and *E. corotovora* strain A20, respectively). As bacterial isolate F1, *i.e. Methylobacterium mucilagonosa* was not cultivated on LB agar, therefore, the bacterial isolate was cultivated in 100 mL of HS broth followed by AHL extraction and finally resuspended in 100  $\mu$ L of ACN. The circle D indicates the AHL crude extract of bacterial isolate. Similarly, bacterial isolate M48, *i.e. Proteus mirabilis*, swarm extensively, making cross streak with *C. violaceum CV026* was unable to be performed. Therefore, similar with *Methylobacterium rhodesianum* strain F1, M48 was cultivated in 100 mL of LB broth followed by AHL extraction and finally resuspended in 400 mL of LB broth followed by AHL extraction and finally of ACN. The circle indicated the AHL crude extract of bacterial isolate cross streak with *C. violaceum cv026* was unable to be performed. Therefore, similar with *Methylobacterium rhodesianum* strain F1, M48 was cultivated in 100 mL of LB broth followed by AHL extraction and finally resuspended in 100 mL of LB broth followed by AHL extraction and finally resuspended in 100 mL of LB broth followed by AHL extraction and finally resuspended in 100 mL of LB broth followed by AHL extraction and finally resuspended in 100 mL of LB broth followed by AHL extraction and finally resuspended in 100 mL of ACN. The circle indicated the AHL crude extract of bacterial isolate.



(ix) (x)

**Figure 4.12 Results of the CV026 cross streak.** All bacterial isolates exhibited no short chain AHL production expect *P. aeruginosa* strain M7. (i) *P. aeruginosa* strain M7, (ii) unidentified strain M3, (iii) *P. otitidis* strain M18, (iv) *Roseomonas mucosa* strain M66, (v) *Cronobacter sakazakii* strain M30, (vi) unidentified strain M27, (vii) *Stenotrophomonas maltophila* strain F2, (viii) *Providencia rettgeri* strain M22, (ix) *Proteus mirabilis* strain M48 and (x) *Methylobacterium rhodesianum* strain F1.
# 4.3.2 Detection of Synthetic AHL Molecules using LC/MS/MS-QQQ

AHL crude extracts of all Gram-negative bacterial isolates, as described in Section 3.2.4.2, were subjected to LC/MS/MS-QQQ analysis in order to compensate the sensitivity of biosensor. Besides, the biosensor *C. violaceum* strain CV026 can only detect short chain AHL molecules but not the long chain AHL molecules. The presence of different of QS signalling molecules were confirmed by the detection of product ion, m/z 102 that indicate the presence of lactone ring, the fragmentation of the precursor as well as the precursor ion at a targeted retention time with the aid of reference to the standard, *i.e.* synthetic AHL molecules.



Figure 4.13 Chromatogram of various synthetic AHL molecules. (a) C4-HSL, (b) 3oxo-C6-HSL, (c) C6-HSL, (d) 3-oxo-C8-HSL, (e) C7-HSL, (f) C8-HSL, (g) 3-oxo-C10-HSL, (h) C10-HSL, (i) 3-oxo-C12-HSL, (j) C12-HSL and (k) 3-oxo-C16-HSL.



Figure 4.14 ESI-MS Spectrum of C4-HSL. The retention time of C4-HSL is 0.758 min. The precursor ion is m/z 172 with the product ion of m/z 102, indicating the presence of homoserine lactone, as well as m/z 143, with the structures shown above.



Figure 4.15 ESI-MS Spectrum of 3-oxo-C6-HSL. The retention time of 3-oxo-C6-HSL is 0.985 min. The precursor ion is m/z 214 with the product ion of m/z 102, indicating the presence of homoserine lactone, as well as m/z 143 and m/z 172, with the structures shown above.



Figure 4.16 ESI-MS Spectrum of C6-HSL. The retention time of C6-HSL is 2.013 min. The precursor ion is m/z 200 with the product ion of m/z 102, indicating the presence of homoserine lactone, as well as m/z 143, with the structures shown above.



Figure 4.17 ESI-MS Spectrum of 3-oxo-C8-HSL. The retention time of 3-oxo-C8-HSL is 2.711 min. The precursor ion is m/z 242 with the product ion of m/z 102, indicating the presence of homoserine lactone, as well as m/z 143 and m/z 200, with the structures shown above.



Figure 4.18 ESI-MS Spectrum of C7-HSL. The retention time of C7-HSL is 3.251 min. The precursor ion is m/z 214 with the product ion of m/z 102, indicating the presence of homoserine lactone, as well as m/z 143, with the structures shown above.



Figure 4.19 ESI-MS Spectrum of C8-HSL. The retention time of C8-HSL is 4.663 min. The precursor ion is m/z 228 with the product ion of m/z 102, indicating the presence of homoserine lactone, as well as m/z 143, with the structures shown above.



**Figure 4.20 ESI-MS Spectrum of 3-oxo-C10-HSL.** The retention time of 3-oxo-C10-HSL is 5.447 min. The precursor ion is m/z 270 with the product ion of m/z 102, indicating the presence of homoserine lactone, as well as m/z 143 and m/z 228, with the structures shown above. A small amount of open-ring structure of 3-oxo-C10-HSL (m/z 287) was found.



Figure 4.21 ESI-MS Spectrum of C10-HSL. The retention time of C10-HSL is 7.295 min. The precursor ion is m/z 256 with the product ion of m/z 102, indicating the presence of homoserine lactone, as well as m/z 143, with the structures shown above.



**Figure 4.22 ESI-MS Spectrum of 3-oxo-C12-HSL.** The retention time of 3-oxo-C12-HSL is 7.905 min. The precursor ion is m/z 298 with the product ion of m/z 102, indicating the presence of homoserine lactone, as well as m/z 256, with the structures shown above. A small amount of open-ring structure of 3-oxo-C12-HSL (m/z 315) was found.



Figure 4.23 ESI-MS Spectrum of C12-HSL. The retention time of C12-HSL is 9.509 min. The precursor ion is m/z 284 with the product ion of m/z 102, indicating the presence of homoserine lactone, as well as m/z 143, with the structures shown above.



Figure 4.24 ESI-MS Spectrum of 3-oxo-C16-HSL. The retention time of 3-oxo-C16-HSL is 10.468 min. The precursor ion is m/z 352 with the product ion of m/z 102, indicating the presence of homoserine lactone, as well as m/z 310, with the structures shown above. A small amount of open-ring structure of 3-oxo-C16-HSL (m/z 369) was found.

# 4.3.3 Detection of AHL Molecules from Crude Extracts using LC/MS/MS-QQQ

The AHL produced by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strain M7 and *Methylobacterium rhodesianum strain* F1 were illustrated in Figure 4.25 and 4.26, respectively.



## Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain M7



Figure 4.25 ESI-MS Spectrum of AHL crude extract from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strain M7. The ESI-MS spectrum indicates the presence of (a) C4-HSL (*m/z* 171.9000, 0.758 min) and (b) 3-oxo-C12-HSL (*m/z* 298, 7.905 min).

#### Methylobacterium rhodesianum strain F1



Figure 4.26 ESI-MS Spectrum of AHL crude extract from *Methylobacterium rhodesianum* strain F1. The ESI-MS spectrum indicates the presence of C12-HSL (*m/z* 284.3000, 9.509 min).

## 4.4 Investigation of Bacterial Quorum Quenching Activities

## 4.4.1 Screening for QQ Bacteria via Whole Cell Inactivation Assay

The assessments of QQ activities was performed using biosensor *C. violaceum* strain CV026 as described in Section 3.2.5.1. All the bacterial isolates were initially screened for QQ activities by incubating *N*-hexanoyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone (C6-HSL) with cell suspension of each bacterial isolates. Results from the whole cell inactivation assay were depicted in Figure 4.27 where sample *R. mucilaginosa* strain CN14, *P. aeruginosa* strain M7, *P. otitidis* strain M18, *G. aichiensis* strain M45, *B.* megaterium strain M52 and *R. mucosa* strain M66 exhibit QQ phenotype. *B. cereus* served as the positive control, while *E. coli* strain DH5 $\alpha$  as well as 1 × PBS served as negative controls in this assay.



*B. cereus E. coli* DH5 $\alpha$  1 × PBS CN12 CN14



**Figure 4.27 Screening for QQ bacteria using whole cell inactivation assay.** The 48 hr represents relactonization protocol which aim to investigate the mechanism of QQ involved on the tested isolates, *i.e. B. cereus*, *E. coli* DH5α, *Kocuria rhizophila* CN12, *Rhodotorula mucilaginosa* CN14, *Methylobacterium rhodesianum* F1, *Stenotrophomonas maltophila* F2, strain M3, *P. aeruginosa* M7, *P. otitidis* M18, *Providencia rettgeri* M22, *Dermacoccus nishinomiyaensis*M25, strain M27, *Cronobacter sakazakii* M30, *Exiguobacterium aurantiacum* M31, *Brevibacterium casei* M40, *Gordonia aichiensis* M45, *Proteus mirabilis* M48, *Bacillus megaterium* M52, *Roseomonas mucosa* M66, *Micrococcus luteus* M71 and 1 × PBS.





M71

Figure 4.27 Continue

According to Figure 4.27, the QQ mechanism of isolates can be divided into two main categories, *i.e.* AHL-lactonase and non-AHL-lactonase. Only *R. mucosa* strain M66 produced AHL-lactonase which proved by the relactonization of inactivated AHL. The other isolates such as *R. mucilaginosa* strain CN14, *P. aeruginosa* strain M7, *P. otitidis* strain M18 and *G. aichiensis* strain M45 inactivated AHL molecules via non-lactonase based approach. There is a slight degree of AHL reformation at the 48 hr of strain *B. megaterium* strain M52. Therefore, one may deduce the possibility of pipetting error, or other form of enzymatic reactions.

## 4.4.2 Investigation of QQ Activities using LC/MS/MS-QQQ

Isolates with positive results at the Section 4.4.1 were proceeded to AHL inactivation assay using LC/MS/MS-QQQ, tested with various AHLs, *e.g.* C4-HSL, C6-HSL, 3-oxo-C8-HSL and 3-oxo-C12-HSL.

# **Inactivation of C4-HSL**



Figure 4.28 Chromatogram and ESI-MS spectrum of C4-HSL (m/z 172.0000, 1.726

min)



Figure 4.29 Chromatogram of C4-HSL treated with (top) *B. cereus* and (bottom) 1 × PBS, serving as positive control and negative control, respectively.



**Figure 4.30 Chromatogram of C4-HSL treated with different isolates. (i)** *R. mucilaginosa* strain CN14, (ii) *P. aeruginosa* strain M7, (iii) *P. otitidis* strain M18 and (iv) *G. aichiensis* strain M45, (v) *B. megaterium* strain M52 and (vi) *R. mucosa* strain M66.



**Figure 4.30 Continue** 

**Inactivation of C6-HSL** 



Figure 4.31 Chromatogram and ESI-MS spectrum of C6-HSL (m/z 200.0000, 1.908

min)



Figure 4.32 Chromatogram of C6-HSL treated with (top) *B. cereus* and (bottom) 1 × PBS, serving as positive control and negative control, respectively.



**Figure 4.33 Chromatogram of C6-HSL treated with different isolates. (i)** *R. mucilaginosa* strain CN14, (ii) *P. aeruginosa* strain M7, (iii) *P. otitidis* strain M18 and (iv) *G. aichiensis* strain M45, (v) *B. megaterium* strain M52 and (vi) *R. mucosa* strain M66.



**Figure 4.33 Continue** 

Inactivation of 3-oxo-C8-HSL



Figure 4.34 Chromatogram and ESI-MS spectrum of 3-oxo-C8-HSL (*m/z* 241.0000, 1.175 min)



Figure 4.35 Chromatogram of 3-oxo-C8-HSL treated with (top) *B. cereus* and (bottom)  $1 \times PBS$ , serving as positive control and negative control, respectively.



**Figure 4.36 Chromatogram of 3-oxo-C8-HSL treated with different isolates.** (i) *R. mucilaginosa* strain CN14, (ii) *P. aeruginosa* strain M7, (iii) *P. otitidis* strain M18 and (iv) *G. aichiensis* strain M45, (v) *B. megaterium* strain M52 and (vi) *R. mucosa* strain M66.



**Figure 4.36 Continue** 

Inactivation of 3-oxo-C12-HSL



Figure 4.37 Chromatogram and ESI-MS spectrum of 3-oxo-C12-HSL (*m/z* 298.0000, 1.683 min)



Figure 4.38 Chromatogram of 3-oxo-C12-HSL treated with (top) *B. cereus* and (bottom)  $1 \times PBS$ , serving as positive control and negative control, respectively.



**Figure 4.39 Chromatogram of 3-oxo-C12-HSL treated with different isolates.** (i) *R. mucilaginosa* strain CN14, (ii) *P. aeruginosa* strain M7, (iii) *P. otitidis* strain M18 and (iv) *G. aichiensis* strain M45, (v) *B. megaterium* strain M52 and (vi) *R. mucosa* strain M66.



Figure 4.39 Continue

## CHAPTER 5.0

## DISCUSSION

## 5.1 Isolation and Identification of Isolates from Ulu Slim Hot Spring

Water from Ulu Slim Hot Spring was selected as isolation source in this study for the investigation of QS and QQ activities among the bacteria inhabiting in a relatively warm area, *i.e.* 35 to 38 °C. The hottest temperature of the hot spring can achieve up to 101 °C. As the boiling underground water flow out from the source and flow towards the peripheral of the hot spring, the temperature decreased. The water sample collected was from the peripheral area with the temperature of 38 °C.

Several isolates which were found in this study have been reported by other researchers to be isolated from hot spring or from hot and humid environments. For example, *Rhodotorula* (*R. mucilaginosa* CN14) has been isolated from Kusatsu Hot Spring, Japan (Nguyen *et al.*, 2001), *Chelatococcus* (*C. daeguensis* M3) has been isolated from a hot spring in Egypt (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2010), *P. aeruginosa* (*P. aeruginosa* M7 and *P. otitidis* M18) has been isolated from a hot spring in Hokkaido, Japan (Hasanuzzaman *et al.*, 2004), *Exiguobacterium (Exiguobacterium aurantiacum* M31) has been isolated from Yellowstone National Park, USA (Vishnivetskaya *et al.*, 2011), various *Bacillus* species (*Bacillus megaterium* M52) have been discovered from an Indonesian hot spring (Baker *et al.*, 2001).

## 5.2 AHL Production of Pseudomonas and Methylobacterium

Preliminary screening of AHL production among the isolates in this study was performed using biosensor *C. violaceum* strain CV026. Violacein production in this biosensor is inducible by AHLs evaluated with *N*-acyl side chains range from C4 to C8,

with varying degree of sensitivity. However, this biosensor was unable to detect any of the 3-hydroxyl-derivatives and with reduced sensitivity to most of the 3-oxo-derivatives (McClean *et al.*, 1997). Therefore, LC/MS/MS-QQQ was used in order to detect the presence of AHL and to characterized the secreted AHL.

In this study, only *P. aeruginosa* M7 induced the violacein production of biosensor suggesting the biosynthesis of short chain AHL molecules. The mass spectrometry analysis of the supernatant of *P. aeruginosa* M7 revealed a peak at *m/z* 171.9000 and ~298.0000, indicating the molecular ion (M+H) of C4-HSL and 3-oxo-C12-HSL, respectively. *P. aeruginosa* has been reported to produce C4-HSL (Pearson *et al.*, 1995) and 3-oxo-C12-HSL (Pearson *et al.*, 1994). According to Pearson *et al.* (1994), 3-oxo-C12-HSL, which synthesized by LasI, activates genes that encode exoprotease virulence factors, such as *lasA*, *lasB*, *aprA*, *toxA* etc., and lead to biofilm formation. C4-HSL is synthesized by RhII, activates *lasB*, *rhlAB* (for rhamnolipid production) and *rpoS* (Pearson *et al.*, 1995).

The another pseudomonad, *i.e. P. otitidis* M18, failed to induce violacein production of the biosensor, suggesting two possibilities, (i) no AHL signalling molecule produced by this bacterial isolates, or (ii) only long chain AHL molecules was produced by this bacterial isolates. The LC/MS/MS-QQQ results (not shown) did not reveal any sign of AHL production.

In this study, *Methylobacterium rhodesianum* F1 failed to induce violacein production. The LC/MS/MS-QQQ results indicated the presence of a long chain AHL species, *i.e.* C12-HSL (*m/z* 284.3000). *Methylobacterium*, specifically *M. extorquens*, has been reported to possess two functional LuxI homologs, namely MsaI which responsible for the biosynthesis of C6-HSL and C8-HSL, as well as MlaI which responsible for the production of C14:1-HSL and C14:2-HSL, which are organized in

83

hierarchical manner, with MsaI activity required for full expression of *mlaI* (Penalver *et al.*, 2006). In 2007, Poonguzhali *et al.* investigated the AHL production of several species of *Methylobacterium*, *i.e. Methylobacterium* sp. CBMB120, *Methylobacterium* sp. CBMB130, *M. suomiense*, *M. extorquens*, *M. hispanicum* and *M. rhodinum*. These *Methylobacterium* species do produced various kinds of AHL, suggesting the production of AHL is widespread in *Methylobacterium*. The result of this study is likely to be the first report for the production of C12-HSL by *M. rhodesianum* F1.

## 5.3 Inactivation of AHL Molecules

## 5.3.1 AHL-degrading Fungus – Rhodotorula mucilaginosa

In this study, a fungal strain CN14, was isolated from the hot spring. Microflex<sup>TM</sup> LT MALDI-TOF Biotyper showed that this isolate belonged to *Rhodotorula mucilaginosa*, which is a member of Basidiomycota of the Urediniomycetes class.

*R. mucilaginosa* can be readily isolated from various environments such as olive mill wastewater (Jarboui *et al.*, 2013), agricultural soil (Abdul Salam *et al.*, 2013), human (Martini *et al.*, 2013), fresh water and marine (Fell *et al.*, 2011). They are capable of degrading various aromatic compounds, organophosphate compounds and xenobiotic compounds (Krastanov *et al.*, 2013, Bempelou *et al.*, 2013, Romero *et al.*, 2002). The degradation of AHL by *R. mucilaginosa* CN14 expands the list of diverse metabolic traits exhibited by members of this genus. This strain of fungi able to degrade a variety of AHLs, such as C4-HSL. C6-HSL, 3-oxo-C8-HSL as well as 3-oxo-C12-HSL. The relactonization assay by incubating the heat-killed cell suspension with equal volume of 0.2 N of HCl. The experiment proved that the QQ enzyme produced by this fungal strain is not AHL-lactonase.

It has become apparent that similar to bacteria, fungus also utilized QS mechanism to regulate population–level behaviors such as pathogenesis (Hogan, 2006). Various fungal signalling molecules have been identified, such as farnesol and tyrosol in *Candida albicans* (Hornby *et al.*, 2001; Chen *et al.*, 2004). In this study, no production of AHL was reported in this fungal isolate.

The discovery of AHL-inactivating activity in *R. mucilaginosa* CN14 raised the question about the reason of such catabolic activity in eukaryotic microorganism, in the hot spring environment. Some bacteria are known to produce chitin-degrading enzyme, *i.e.* chitinase, which regulated by QS (Chernin *et al.*, 1998). There is a scientific literature reported the presence and the extraction of extracellular chitinases from *P. aeruginosa* (Wang & Chang, 1997). In this study, *P. aeruginosa* M7 and *R. mucilaginosa* CN14 were isolated from the same sampling source. The inactivation of AHL could be a strategy developed by the fungi to interfere the QS system of the Gramnegative bacteria, and disrupt the deleterious bacterial functions, especially chitinases which degrade the chitin of the cell wall of fungus, and thereby giving the fungus survival advantage in the competitive habitats. Recently, an AHL-lactonase producing microscopic yeast, *i.e. Trichosporon loubieri* WW1C, was discovered (Wong *et al.*, 2013), suggesting the catabolic diversity of fungus in degrading AHL molecules.

# 5.3.2 QQ Pseudomonas

*P. aeruginosa* is a common bacterium found in diverse environmental condition due to its metabolic versatility. It is ubiquitous in the soil and water ecosystems, including the freshwater ecosystems. *P. aeruginosa* is well known for its ability in metabolizing a diverse chemical compounds ranging from organophosphate insecticides

to aromatic compound (Hsu *et al.*, 1979; Deziel *et al.*, 1996). In this study, *P. aeruginosa* and *P. otitidis* were able to degrade C4-HSL, C6-HSL, 3-oxo-C8-HSL and 3-oxo-C12-HSL, and the QQ enzymes from both microorganisms were not AHL-lactonases. This can be explained by the expression of two QQ-enzymes encoding genes, *i.e. pvdQ* and *quiP*, which are both AHL-acylases (Huang *et al.*,2003; Huang *et al.*,2006; Sio *et al.*,2006). As suggested by Huang *et al.* (2006), that these two AHL-acylases play crucial roles in regulating the production of AHL molecules in order for the bacteria to communicate and to ensure that cell-to-cell communication is not disrupted.

### 5.3.3 AHL-Lactonase of Roseomonas

*Roseomonas* is commonly found in soil, freshwater, lake sediment as well as playing a nasty role as a human pathogen causing severe bacteremia (Chen *et al.*, 2012; Furuhata *et al.*, 2008; Jiang *et al.*, 2006; Rihs *et al.*, 1993). In 2012, this bacteria has been reported to produce QQ enzyme and the genome of this bacteria has been sequenced (Chen *et al.*, 2012). This study further explains the mechanism of AHL-degradation by *Roseomonas* sp. M66, which is via AHL-lactonase approach. The can be proven by the relactonization assay shown in Figure 4.27 in which the addition of 0.2 N of HCl reform the functional AHL and thus inducing the violacein formation of the biosensor.

## 5.3.4 QQ Gordonia sp.

The actinomycete genus *Gordonia* has attracted much interest due to its ability to degrade xenobiotic compounds, environmental pollutants and various toxic compounds. Besides, *Gordonia* spp. also produce a variety of useful compounds, such as carotenoids, biosurfactant, gordonan (an acidic, cell aggregation-inducing polysaccharide) and gordonin (a form of glycosylated peptidolipids) (Arenskotter *et al.*, 2004). *Gordonia* species have been isolated from various environments, such as mangrove rhizosphere, hydrocarbon-contaminated soil, wastewater treatment bioreactors and on diseased human (Takeuchi *et al.*, 1998; Kummer *et al.*, 1999; Kim *et al.*, 2003; Verma *et al.*, 2006). This study has expanded the list of diverse metabolic traits exhibited by members of this genus.

## 5.3.5 Inactivation of AHL by Bacillus megaterium

Various members of *Bacillus* have been reported to possess the AHL-lactonase encoding gene, *i.e. aiiA*, which cleaves the ester bond of the lactone ring of AHL (Dong *et al.*, 2000). *B. megaterium* has been reported to inactivate AHL by oxidoreductase, in which the CYP102A1 oxidises the acyl chain of AHL at  $\omega$ -1,  $\omega$ -2 and  $\omega$ -3 positions, independent of the presence or absence of the 3-oxo-group at C3 and occurs whether the lactone form is oxidesed or the hydroxyl-acid form is oxidised then recyclized (Chowdhary *et al.*, 2007).

In this study, upon additional of equal volume of 0.2 N HCl, a very minute amount of functional AHL has reformed, indicated by the formation of purple pigmented zone. The AHL inactivation might be contributed by the AHL-lactonase, forming a dysfunctional acyl homoserine, or by AHL-oxidoreductase, forming a slightly edited signalling molecule, which fail to induce violacein production by the biosensor CV026.

### 5.4 Future Work

One of the major finding of this study is the identification of a QQ fungal strain, *i.e. R. mucilaginosa* CN14. Many intriguing questions arise from this finding: What is the mechanism of AHL-degradation of *R. mucilaginosa*? Little is known regarding eukaryotic quorum quenching as compared to quorum quenching in bacteria.

Similarly, the mechanism of QQ in *Gordonia* is still not known. Therefore, further study on the mechanism of QQ and the genes encoding for the QQ enzyme should be performed.

One of the approaches to determine which QQ mechanism is by investigating the AHL degradation products. AHL-acylases cleave the amide bond of AHL, forming HSL and fatty acid. HSL is readily to react with 5-(dimethyl amino)-naphthalene-1-sulfonyl chloride (DANSYL-chloride), forming dansylated homoserine lactone which has an increased hydrophobicity, thus allowing more resolved separation during chromatography (Lin *et al.*, 2003; Uroz *et al.*, 2008). In order to investigate the AHL-oxidoreductases, a more in depth and comprehensive analytical chemical analysis is required.

Whole genome sequencing of these bacterial isolates is currently undergoing. This is to study the genes present in the genome as well as to understand the global gene regulation and physiological effects of QS based on the organization of the genes.

### CHAPTER 6.0

#### CONCLUSION

As a summary, a total of eighteen microorganisms have been isolated from Ulu Slim Hot Spring, at the lower temperature region, *i.e.* 35 - 38 °C. The isolated strains are Kocuria rhizophila CN12, Rhodotorula mucilaginosa CN14, Methylobacterium rhodesianum F1, Stenotrophomonas maltophila F2, Chelatococcus sp. M3, Pseudomonas aeruginosa M7, Pseudomonas otitidis M18, Providencia rettgeri M22, Dermacoccus nishinomivaensis M25, Schineria sp. M27, Cronobacter sakazakii M30, Exiguobacterium aurantiacum M31, Brevibacterium casei M40, Gordonia sp. M45, Proteus mirabilis M48, Bacillus megaterium M52, Roseomonas sp. M66, Micrococcus luteus M71, and their identities were determined via MicroflexTM LT MALDI-TOF Biotyper as well as 16S rRNA sequencing. LC/MS/MS-QQQ analysis has identified the production of C4-HSL and 3-oxo-C12-HSL in spent supernatant of P. aeruginosa M7, as well as C12-HSL in spent supernatant of *M. rhodesianum* F1. This study also demonstrated the degradation of AHL by basidiomycetes yeast, i.e. R. mucilaginosa CN14, as well as five bacterial isolates, namely P. aeruginosa M7, P. otitidis M18, Gordonia sp. M45, B. megaterium M52 and Roseomonas sp. M66. Of these six isolates, only Roseomonas sp. M66 produced AHL-lactonase, while the rest produce other enzymes to inactivate or degrade AHL molecules. Further investigation to identify the AHL synthase genes, genes regulated by QS as well as QQ-enzymes encoding genes from these microorganisms are recommended. This can be achieved via whole genome sequencing. Besides, more in-depth studies on the QQ mechanisms of the QQ bacteria are suggested.

### REFERENCES

- Afriat, L., Roodveldt, C., Manco, G., & Tawfik, D. S. (2006). The latent promiscuity of newly identified microbial lactonases is linked to a recently diverged phosphotriesterase. *Biochemistry*, 45(46), 13677–13686.
- Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W., & Lipman, D. J. (1990). Basic local alignment search tool. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 215(3), 403–410.
- Arenskötter, M., Bröker, D., & Steinbüchel, A. (2004). Biology of the metabolically diverse genus Gordonia. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 70(6), 3195– 3204.
- Atkinson, S., & Williams, P. (2009). Quorum sensing and social networking in the microbial world. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 6(40), 959–978.
- Atkinson, S., Chang, C. Y., Patrick, H. L., Buckley, C. M., Wang, Y., Sockett, R. E., ... & Williams, P. (2008). Functional interplay between the *Yersinia* pseudotuberculosis YpsRI and YtbRI quorum sensing systems modulates swimming motility by controlling expression of *flhDC* and *fliA*. Molecular Microbiology, 69(1), 137–151.
- Atkinson, S., Chang, C. Y., Sockett, R. E., Cámara, M., & Williams, P. (2006). Quorum sensing in *Yersinia enterocolitica* controls swimming and swarming motility. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188(4), 1451–1461.
- Atkinson, S., Throup, J. P., Stewart, G. S., & Williams, P. (1999). A hierarchical quorum-sensing system in Yersinia pseudotuberculosis is involved in the regulation of motility and clumping. *Molecular Microbiology*, 33(6), 1267–1277.
- Baker, G. C., Gaffar, S., Cowan, D. A., & Suharto, A. R. (2001). Bacterial community analysis of Indonesian hot springs. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 200(1), 103–109.
- Barber, C. E., Tang, J. L., Feng, J. X., Pan, M. Q., Wilson, T. J. G., Slater, H., ... & Daniels, M. J. (1997). A novel regulatory system required for pathogenicity of *Xanthomonas campestris* is mediated by a small diffusible signal molecule. *Molecular Microbiology*, 24(3), 555–566.
- Barnard, A. M., Bowden, S. D., Burr, T., Coulthurst, S. J., Monson, R. E., & Salmond, G. P. (2007). Quorum sensing, virulence and secondary metabolite production in plant soft-rotting bacteria. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 362(1483), 1165-1183.
- Batchelor, S. E., Cooper, M., Chhabra, S. R., Glover, L. A., Stewart, G. S., Williams, P., & Prosser, J. I. (1997). Cell density-regulated recovery of starved biofilm populations of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63(6), 2281–2286.
- Bempelou, E. D., Vontas, J. G., Liapis, K. S., & Ziogas, V. N. (2013). Biodegradation of diazinon by the epiphytic yeasts *Rhodotorula glutinis* and *Rhodotorula rubra*. *Hellenic Plant Protection Journal*, 6(2), 69–82.

- Burton, E. O., Read, H. W., Pellitteri, M. C., & Hickey, W. J. (2005). Identification of acyl-homoserine lactone signal molecules produced by *Nitrosomonas europaea* strain Schmidt. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(8), 4906–4909.
- Chalupowicz, L., Barash, I., Panijel, M., Sessa, G., & Manulis-Sasson, S. (2009). Regulatory interactions between quorum-sensing, auxin, cytokinin, and the Hrp regulon in relation to gall formation and epiphytic fitness of *Pantoea agglomerans* pv. gypsophilae. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions, 22(7), 849–856.
- Chan, K. G., Atkinson, S., Mathee, K., Sam, C. K., Chhabra, S. R., Cámara, M., ... & Williams, P. (2011). Characterization of *N*-acylhomoserine lactone-degrading bacteria associated with the *Zingiber officinale* (ginger) rhizosphere: Co-existence of quorum quenching and quorum sensing in *Acinetobacter* and *Burkholderia*. *BMC Microbiology*, 11(1), 51.
- Chen, C. N., Chen, C. J., Liao, C. T., & Lee, C. Y. (2009). A probable aculeacin A acylase from the *Ralstonia solanacearum* GMI1000 is *N*-acyl-homoserine lactone acylase with quorum-quenching activity. *BMC Microbiology*, 9(1), 89.
- Chen, H., Fujita, M., Feng, Q., Clardy, J., & Fink, G. R. (2004). Tyrosol is a quorumsensing molecule in *Candida albicans*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 101(14), 5048–5052.
- Chen, J. W., Gan, H. M., Yin, W. F., & Chan, K. G. (2012). Genome Sequence of *Roseomonas* sp. Strain B5, a Quorum-Quenching *N*-Acylhomoserine Lactone-Degrading Bacterium Isolated from Malaysian Tropical Soil. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 194(23), 6681–6682.
- Chernin, L. S., Winson, M. K., Thompson, J. M., Haran, S., Bycroft, B. W., Chet, I., ... & Stewart, G. S. (1998). Chitinolytic activity in *Chromobacterium violaceum*: substrate analysis and regulation by quorum sensing. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *180*(17), 4435–4441.
- Chhabra, S. R., Philipp, B., Eberl, L., Givskov, M., Williams, P., & Cámara, M. (2005). Extracellular communication in bacteria. In *The Chemistry of Pheromones and Other Semiochemicals Ii* (pp. 279–315). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Chong, T. M., Koh, C. L., Sam, C. K., Choo, Y. M., Yin, W. F., & Chan, K. G. (2012). Characterization of quorum sensing and quorum quenching soil bacteria isolated from Malaysian tropical montane forest. *Sensors*, 12(4), 4846-4859.
- Chow, J. Y., Wu, L., & Yew, W. S. (2009). Directed evolution of a quorum-quenching lactonase from *Mycobacterium avium* subsp. *paratuberculosis* K-10 in the amidohydrolase superfamily. *Biochemistry*, 48(20), 4344–4353.
- Chow, J. Y., Xue, B., Lee, K. H., Tung, A., Wu, L., Robinson, R. C., & Yew, W. S. (2010). Directed evolution of a thermostable quorum-quenching lactonase from the amidohydrolase superfamily. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(52), 40911–40920.

- Chowdhary, P. K., Keshavan, N., Nguyen, H. Q., Peterson, J. A., González, J. E., & Haines, D. C. (2007). *Bacillus megaterium* CYP102A1 oxidation of acyl homoserine lactones and acyl homoserines. *Biochemistry*, 46(50), 14429–14437.
- Christensen, A. B., Riedel, K., Eberl, L., Flodgaard, L. R., Molin, S., Gram, L., & Givskov, M. (2003). Quorum-sensing-directed protein expression in *Serratia* proteamaculans B5a. *Microbiology*, 149(2), 471–483.
- Coulthurst, S. J., Williamson, N. R., Harris, A. K., Spring, D. R., & Salmond, G. P. (2006). Metabolic and regulatory engineering of *Serratia marcescens*: mimicking phage-mediated horizontal acquisition of antibiotic biosynthesis and quorumsensing capacities. *Microbiology*, 152(7), 1899–1911.
- Czajkowski, R., & Jafra, S. (2009). Quenching of acyl-homoserine lactone-dependent quorum sensing by enzymatic disruption of signal molecules. *Acta Biochimica Polonica*, *56*(1), 1–16.
- Daniels, R., De Vos, D. E., Desair, J., Raedschelders, G., Luyten, E., Rosemeyer, V., ... & Michiels, J. (2002). The *cin* quorum sensing locus of *Rhizobium etli* CNPAF512 affects growth and symbiotic nitrogen fixation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(1), 462–468.
- Danino, V. E., Wilkinson, A., Edwards, A., & Downie, J. A. (2003). Recipient-induced transfer of the symbiotic plasmid pRL1JI in *Rhizobium leguminosarum* bv. viciae is regulated by a quorum-sensing relay. *Molecular Microbiology*, 50(2), 511–525.
- Davies, D. G., Parsek, M. R., Pearson, J. P., Iglewski, B. H., Costerton, J. W., & Greenberg, E. P. (1998). The involvement of cell-to-cell signals in the development of a bacterial biofilm. *Science*, 280(5361), 295–298.
- Decho, A. W., Frey, R. L., & Ferry, J. L. (2010). Chemical challenges to bacterial AHL signaling in the environment. *Chemical Reviews*, 111(1), 86–99.
- Dewhirst, F. E., Chien, C. C., Paster, B. J., Ericson, R. L., Orcutt, R. P., Schauer, D. B., & Fox, J. G. (1999). Phylogeny of the defined murine microbiota: altered Schaedler flora. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 65(8), 3287–3292.
- Deziel, E., Paquette, G., Villemur, R., Lepine, F., & Bisaillon, J. (1996). Biosurfactant production by a soil *Pseudomonas* strain growing on polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 62(6), 1908–1912.
- Diggle, S. P., Gardner, A., West, S. A. & Griffin, A. S. (2007). Evolutionary theory of bacterial quorum sensing: when is a signal not a signal?. *Philosophical Transactions of The Royal Society*, 362(1483), 1241–1249.
- Diggle, S. P., Gardner, A., West, S. A., & Griffin, A. S. (2007). Evolutionary theory of bacterial quorum sensing: when is a signal not a signal?. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 362(1483), 1241–1249.
- Dong, Y. H., & Zhang, L. H. (2005). Quorum sensing and quorum-quenching enzymes. Journal of Microbiology, 43(5), 101–109.

- Dong, Y. H., Wang, L. H., & Zhang, L. H. (2007). Quorum-quenching microbial infections: mechanisms and implications. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 362(1483), 1201–1211.
- Dong, Y. H., Xu, J. L., Li, X. Z., & Zhang, L. H. (2000). AiiA, an enzyme that inactivates the acylhomoserine lactone quorum-sensing signal and attenuates the virulence of *Erwinia carotovora*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(7), 3526–3531.
- Dubern, J. F., Lugtenberg, B. J., & Bloemberg, G. V. (2006). The *ppuI-rsaL-ppuR* quorum-sensing system regulates biofilm formation of *Pseudomonas putida* PCL1445 by controlling biosynthesis of the cyclic lipopeptides putisolvins I and II. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188(8), 2898–2906.
- Duerkop, B. A., Ulrich, R. L., & Greenberg, E. P. (2007). Octanoyl-homoserine lactone is the cognate signal for *Burkholderia mallei* BmaR1-BmaI1 quorum sensing. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 189(14), 5034–5040.
- Dunphy, G., Miyamoto, C., & Meighen, E. (1997). A homoserine lactone autoinducer regulates virulence of an insect-pathogenic bacterium, *Xenorhabdus nematophilus* (Enterobacteriaceae). *Journal of Bacteriology*, 179(17), 5288–5291.
- Eberhard, A., Burlingame, A. L., Eberhard, C., Kenyon, G. L., Nealson, K. H., & Oppenheimer, N. J. (1981). Structural identification of autoinducer of Photobacterium fischeri luciferase. *Biochemistry*, 20(9), 2444–2449.
- Eberl, L., Christiansen, G., Molin, S., & Givskov, M. (1996a). Differentiation of *Serratia liquefaciens* into swarm cells is controlled by the expression of the *flhD* master operon. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *178*(2), 554–559.
- Eberl, L., Winson, M. K., Sternberg, C., Stewart, G. S., Christiansen, G., Chhabra, S. R., ... & Givskov, M. (1996b). Involvement of *N*-acyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone autoinducers in controlling the multicellular behaviour of *Serratia liquefaciens*. *Molecular Microbiology*, 20(1), 127–136.
- Eigner, U., Holfelder, M., Oberdorfer, K., Betz-Wild, U., Bertsch, D., & Fahr, A. M. (2008). Performance of a matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time-of-flight mass spectrometry system for the identification of bacterial isolates in the clinical routine laboratory. *Clinical Laboratory*, 55(7-8), 289-296.
- Elias, M., Dupuy, J., Merone, L., Mandrich, L., Porzio, E., Moniot, S., ... & Chabriere, E. (2008). Structural basis for natural lactonase and promiscuous phosphotriesterase activities. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 379(5), 1017–1028.
- Engebrecht, J., Nealson, K., & Silverman, M. (1983). Bacterial bioluminescence: isolation and genetic analysis of functions from *Vibrio fischeri*. *Cell*, *32*(3), 773–781.
- Fell, J. W., Statzell-Tallman, A., Scorzetti, G., & Gutiérrez, M. H. (2011). Five new species of yeasts from fresh water and marine habitats in the Florida Everglades. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*, 99(3), 533–549.
- Flavier, A. B., Clough, S. J., Schell, M. A., & Denny, T. P. (1997). Identification of 3-hydroxypalmitic acid methyl ester as a novel autoregulator controlling virulence in *Ralstonia solanacearum*. *Molecular Microbiology*, 26(2), 251–259.
- Flavier, A. B., Ganova-Raeva, L. M., Schell, M. A., & Denny, T. P. (1997). Hierarchical autoinduction in *Ralstonia solanacearum*: control of acylhomoserine lactone production by a novel autoregulatory system responsive to 3hydroxypalmitic acid methyl ester. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 179(22), 7089–7097.
- Fuqua, W. C., Winans, S. C., & Greenberg, E.P. (1994). Quorum sensing in bacteria: the LuxR-LuxI family of cell density-responsive transcriptional regulators. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 176(2), 269–275.
- Furuhata, K., Miyamoto, H., Goto, K., Kato, Y., Hara, M., & Fukuyama, M. (2008). Roseomonas stagni sp. nov., isolated from pond water in Japan. The Journal of General and Applied Microbiology, 54(3), 167–171.
- Gram, L., Grossart, H. P., Schlingloff, A., & Kiørboe, T. (2002). Possible quorum sensing in marine snow bacteria: production of acylated homoserine lactones by *Roseobacter* strains isolated from marine snow. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(8), 4111–4116.
- Hamilton, W. D. (1963). The evolution of altruistic behavior. *The American Naturalist*, 97(896), 354–356.
- Hamilton, W. D. (1964). The genetical evolution of social behaviour. II. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 7(1), 17–52.
- Hao, G., & Burr, T. J. (2006). Regulation of long-chain N-acyl-homoserine lactones in Agrobacterium vitis. Journal of Bacteriology, 188(6), 2173–2183.
- Hardin, G. (1968). The Tragedy of the Commons. Science, 162 (3859), 1243-1248.
- Hasanuzzaman, M., Umadhay-Briones, K. M., Zsiros, S. M., Morita, N., Nodasaka, Y., Yumoto, I., & Okuyama, H. (2004). Isolation, identification, and characterization of a novel, oil-degrading bacterium, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* T1. *Current Microbiology*, 49(2), 108–114.
- Haudecoeur E. & Faure D. (2010). A fine control of quorum-sensing communication in *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Communicative & Integrative Biology*, *3*(2), 84–88;
- Hogan, D. A. (2006). Talking to themselves: autoregulation and quorum sensing in fungi. *Eukaryotic Cell*, 5(4), 613–619.
- Hong, K. W., Koh, C. L., Sam, C. K., Yin, W. F., & Chan, K. G. (2012). Quorum quenching revisited—from signal decays to signalling confusion. *Sensors*, 12(4), 4661–4696.
- Hornby, J. M., Jensen, E. C., Lisec, A. D., Tasto, J. J., Jahnke, B., Shoemaker, R., ... & Nickerson, K. W. (2001). Quorum sensing in the dimorphic fungus *Candida albicans* is mediated by farnesol. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(7), 2982–2992.

- Horng, Y. T., Deng, S. C., Daykin, M., Soo, P. C., Wei, J. R., Luh, K. T., ... & Williams,
  P. (2002). The LuxR family protein SpnR functions as a negative regulator of N-acylhomoserine lactone-dependent quorum sensing in Serratia marcescens. Molecular Microbiology, 45(6), 1655–1671.
- Hsu, T. S., & Bartha, R. (1979). Accelerated mineralization of two organophosphate insecticides in the rhizosphere. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *37*(1), 36–41.
- Huang, J. J., Han, J. I., Zhang, L. H., & Leadbetter, J. R. (2003). Utilization of acylhomoserine lactone quorum signals for growth by a soil pseudomonad and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 69(10), 5941–5949.
- Huang, J. J., Petersen, A., Whiteley, M., & Leadbetter, J. R. (2006). Identification of QuiP, the product of gene PA1032, as the second acyl-homoserine lactone acylase of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(2), 1190–1197.
- Ibrahim, M. H. A., Willems, A., & Steinbüchel, A. (2010). Isolation and characterization of new poly (3HB)-accumulating star-shaped cell-aggregates-forming thermophilic bacteria. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 109(5), 1579–1590.
- Iida, A., Ohnishi, Y., & Horinouchi, S. (2008). Control of acetic acid fermentation by quorum sensing via N-acylhomoserine lactones in *Gluconacetobacter intermedius*. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 190(7), 2546–2555.
- Jarboui, R., Magdich, S., Ayadi, R. J., Gargouri, A., Gharsallah, N., & Ammar, E. (2013). Aspergillus niger P6 and *Rhodotorula mucilaginosa* CH4 used for olive mill wastewater (OMW) biological treatment in single pure and successive cultures. *Environmental Technology*, 34(5), 629–636.
- Jiang, C. Y., Dai, X., Wang, B. J., Zhou, Y. G., & Liu, S. J. (2006). Roseomonas lacus sp. nov., isolated from freshwater lake sediment. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 56(1), 25–28.
- Jimenez, P. N., Koch, G., Papaioannou, E., Wahjudi, M., Krzeslak, J., Coenye, T., ... & Quax, W. J. (2010). Role of PvdQ in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* virulence under iron-limiting conditions. *Microbiology*, 156(1), 49–59.
- Juhas, M., Wiehlmann, L., Huber, B., Jordan, D., Lauber, J., Salunkhe, P., ... & Tümmler, B. (2004). Global regulation of quorum sensing and virulence by VqsR in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Microbiology*, 150(4), 831–841.
- Kaufmann, G. F., Sartorio, R., Lee, S. H., Rogers, C. J., Meijler, N. M., Moss, J. A., ... & Janda, K. D. (2005). Revisiting quorum sensing: Discovery of additional chemical and biological functions for 3-oxo-N-acylhomoserine lactones. *PNAS* 102 (2), 309–314.
- Keller, L. & Surette, M. G. (2006). Communication in bacteria: an ecological and evolutionary perspective. *Nature Review Microbiology*, 4(4), 249–258.

- Keller, L., & Surette, M. G. (2006). Communication in bacteria: an ecological and evolutionary perspective. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 4(4), 249–258.
- Khan, S. R., Mavrodi, D. V., Jog, G. J., Suga, H., Thomashow, L. S., & Farrand, S. K. (2005). Activation of the *phz* operon of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* 2-79 requires the LuxR homolog PhzR, *N*-(3-OH-hexanoyl)-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone produced by the LuxI homolog PhzI, and a *cis*-acting *phz* box. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *187*(18), 6517–6527.
- Kim, K. K., Lee, C. S., Kroppenstedt, R. M., Stackebrandt, E., & Lee, S. T. (2003). Gordonia sihwensis sp. nov., a novel nitrate-reducing bacterium isolated from a wastewater-treatment bioreactor. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 53(5), 1427–1433.
- Kim, M. H., Choi, W. C., Kang, H. O., Lee, J. S., Kang, B. S., Kim, K. J., ... & Lee, J. K. (2005). The molecular structure and catalytic mechanism of a quorum-quenching *N*-acyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactone hydrolase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(49), 17606–17611.
- Kirwan, J. P., Gould, T. A., Schweizer, H. P., Bearden, S. W., Murphy, R. C., & Churchill, M. E. (2006). Quorum-sensing signal synthesis by the *Yersinia pestis* acyl-homoserine lactone synthase YspI. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188(2), 784–788.
- Koiv, V., & Mäe, A. (2001). Quorum sensing controls the synthesis of virulence factors by modulating *rsmA* gene expression in *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *carotovora*. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics*, 265(2), 287–292.
- Kotilainen, P., Jalava, J., Meurman, O., Lehtonen, O. P., Rintala, E., Seppälä, O. P., ...
  & Nikkari, S. (1998). Diagnosis of meningococcal meningitis by broad-range bacterial PCR with cerebrospinal fluid. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 36(8), 2205–2209.
- Koutsoudis, M. D., Tsaltas, D., Minogue, T. D., & von Bodman, S. B. (2006). Quorumsensing regulation governs bacterial adhesion, biofilm development, and host colonization in *Pantoea stewartii* subspecies *stewartii*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(15), 5983–5988.
- Krastanov, A., Alexieva, Z., & Yemendzhiev, H. (2013). Microbial degradation of phenol and phenolic derivatives. *Engineering in Life Sciences*, *13*(1), 76–87.
- Krick, A., Kehraus, S., Eberl, L., Riedel, K., Anke, H., Kaesler, I., ... & König, G. M. (2007). A marine *Mesorhizobium* sp. produces structurally novel long-chain *N*acyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactones. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(11), 3587–3594.
- Kropotkin, P. A. (1907). Mutual aid: A factor of evolution. W. Heinemann.
- Kummer, C., Schumann, P., & Stackebrandt, E. (1999). Gordonia alkanivorans sp. nov., isolated from tar-contaminated soil. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 49(4), 1513–1522.
- Latifi, A., Foglino, M., Tanaka, K., Williams, P., & Lazdunski, A. (1996). A hierarchical quorum-sensing cascade in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* links the

transcriptional activators LasR and RhIR (VsmR) to expression of the stationary-phase sigma factor RpoS. *Molecular Microbiology*, 21(6), 1137–1146.

- Leadbetter, J. R., & Greenberg, E. P. (2000). Metabolism of acyl-homoserine lactone quorum-sensing signals by *Variovorax paradoxus*. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *182*(24), 6921–6926.
- Lehoux, D. E., Sanschagrin, F. & Levesque, R. C. (2000). Genomics of the 35-kb *pvd* locus and analysis of novel *pvdIJK* genes implicated in pyoverdine biosynthesis in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. FEMS Microbiology Letter, 190(1), 141–146.
- Lewenza, S., Conway, B., Greenberg, E. P., & Sokol, P. A. (1999). Quorum sensing in Burkholderia cepacia: identification of the LuxRI homologs CepRI. Journal of Bacteriology, 181(3), 748–756.
- Lin, Y. H., Xu, J. L., Hu, J., Wang, L. H., Ong, S. L., Leadbetter, J. R., & Zhang, L. H. (2003). Acyl-homoserine lactone acylase from *Ralstonia* strain XJ12B represents a novel and potent class of quorum-quenching enzymes. *Molecular Microbiology*, 47(3), 849–860.
- Loh, J., Carlson, R. W., York, W. S., & Stacey, G. (2002). Bradyoxetin, a unique chemical signal involved in symbiotic gene regulation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(22), 14446–14451.
- Lowery, C. A., Dickerson, T. J. & Janda, K. D. (2008). Interspecies and interkingdom communication mediated by bacterial quorum sensing?. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 37(7), 1337–1346.
- Maddula, V. K., Zhang, Z., Pierson, E. A., & Pierson III, L. S. (2006). Quorum sensing and phenazines are involved in biofilm formation by *Pseudomonas chlororaphis* (aureofaciens) strain 30-84. *Microbial Ecology*, 52(2), 289–301.
- Malott, R. J., Baldwin, A., Mahenthiralingam, E., & Sokol, P. A. (2005). Characterization of the *cciIR* quorum-sensing system in *Burkholderia cenocepacia*. *Infection and Immunity*, 73(8), 4982–4992.
- Marketon, M. M., Glenn, S. A., Eberhard, A., & González, J. E. (2003). Quorum sensing controls exopolysaccharide production in *Sinorhizobium meliloti*. *Journal* of Bacteriology, 185(1), 325–331.
- Martini, K., Müller, H., Huemer, H. P., & Höpfl, R. (2013). Nail psoriasis masqueraded by secondary infection with *Rhodotorula mucilaginosa*. *Mycoses*. 56(6), 690-692.
- McClean, K. H., Winson, M. K., Fish, L., Taylor, A., Chhabra, S. R., Camara, M., ... & Williams, P. (1997). Quorum sensing and *Chromobacterium violaceum*: exploitation of violacein production and inhibition for the detection of *N*acylhomoserine lactones. *Microbiology*, 143(12), 3703–3711.
- Mei, G. Y., Yan, X. X., Turak, A., Luo, Z. Q., & Zhang, L. Q. (2010). AidH, an alpha/beta-hydrolase fold family member from an Ochrobactrum sp. strain, is a novel N-acylhomoserine lactonase. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 76(15), 4933–4942.

- Merone, L., Mandrich, L., Rossi, M., & Manco, G. (2005). A thermostable phosphotriesterase from the archaeon *Sulfolobus solfataricus*: cloning, overexpression and properties. *Extremophiles*, 9(4), 297–305.
- Milton, D. L., Chalker, V. J., Kirke, D., Hardman, A., Cámara, M., & Williams, P. (2001). The LuxM Homologue VanM from *Vibrio anguillarum* Directs the Synthesis of *N*-(3-Hydroxyhexanoyl) homoserine Lactone and *N*-Hexanoylhomoserine Lactone. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 183(12), 3537–3547.
- Milton, D. L., Hardman, A., Camara, M., Chhabra, S. R., Bycroft, B. W., Stewart, G. S., & Williams, P. (1997). Quorum sensing in *Vibrio anguillarum*: characterization of the *vanI/vanR* locus and identification of the autoinducer *N*-(3-oxodecanoyl)-Lhomoserine lactone. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *179*(9), 3004–3012.
- Momb, J., Thomas, P. W., Breece, R. M., Tierney, D. L., & Fast, W. (2006). The quorum-quenching metallo-γ-lactonase from *Bacillus thuringiensis* exhibits a leaving group thio effect. *Biochemistry*, 45(44), 13385–13393.
- Momb, J., Wang, C., Liu, D., Thomas, P. W., Petsko, G. A., Guo, H., ... & Fast, W. (2008). Mechanism of the quorum-quenching lactonase (AiiA) from *Bacillus thuringiensis*. 2. substrate modeling and active site mutations. *Biochemistry*, 47(29), 7715–7725.
- Momb, J., Yoon, D. W., & Fast, W. (2010). Enzymic Disruption of N-Aroyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine Lactone-Based Quorum Sensing. *ChemBioChem*, 11(11), 1535–1537.
- Morohoshi, T., Nakamura, Y., Yamazaki, G., Ishida, A., Kato, N., & Ikeda, T. (2007). The plant pathogen *Pantoea ananatis* produces *N*-acylhomoserine lactone and causes center rot disease of onion by quorum sensing. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *189*(22), 8333–8338.
- Morohoshi, T., Nakazawa, S., Ebata, A., Kato, N., & Ikeda, T. (2008). Identification and characterization of *N*-acylhomoserine lactone-acylase from the fish intestinal *Shewanella* sp. strain MIB015. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 72(7), 1887–1893
- Morohoshi, T., Tominaga, Y., Someya, N., & Ikeda, T. (2012). Complete genome sequence and characterization of the *N*-acylhomoserine lactone-degrading gene of the potato leaf-associated *Solibacillus silvestris*. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 113(1), 20–25.
- Nasser, W., Bouillant, M. L., Salmond, G. & Reverchon, S. (1998). Characterization of the *Erwinia chrysanthemi expI-expR* locus directing the synthesis of two *N*-acylhomoserine lactone signal molecules. *Molecular Microbiology*, 29(6), 1391–1405.
- Nguyen, V. A. T., Senoo, K., Mishima, T., & Hisamatsu, M. (2001). Multiple tolerance of *Rhodotorula glutinis* R-1 to acid, aluminum ion and manganese ion, and its unusual ability of neutralizing acidic medium. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 92(4), 366–371.

- Niu, C., Clemmer, K. M., Bonomo, R. A., & Rather, P. N. (2008). Isolation and characterization of an autoinducer synthase from *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 190(9), 3386–3392.
- Novick, R. P. (2003). Autoinduction and signal transduction in the regulation of staphylococcal virulence. *Molecular Microbiology*, *48*(6), 1429–1449.
- Oinuma, K. I., & Greenberg, E. P. (2011). Acyl-homoserine lactone binding to and stability of the orphan *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* quorum-sensing signal receptor QscR. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 193(2), 421–428.
- Ott, S. J., Musfeldt, M., Wenderoth, D. F., Hampe, J., Brant, O., Fölsch, U. R., ... & Schreiber, S. (2004). Reduction in diversity of the colonic mucosa associated bacterial microflora in patients with active inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut*, 53(5), 685–693.
- Ovadis, M., Liu, X., Gavriel, S., Ismailov, Z., Chet, I., & Chernin, L. (2004). The global regulator genes from biocontrol strain *Serratia plymuthica* IC1270: cloning, sequencing, and functional studies. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 186(15), 4986–4993.
- Park, S. Y., Kang, H. O., Jang, H. S., Lee, J. K., Koo, B. T., & Yum, D. Y. (2005). Identification of extracellular *N*-acylhomoserine lactone acylase from a *Streptomyces* sp. and its application to quorum quenching. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(5), 2632–2641.
- Park, S. Y., Lee, S. J., Oh, T. K., Oh, J. W., Koo, B. T., Yum, D. Y., & Lee, J. K. (2003). AhlD, an *N*-acylhomoserine lactonase in *Arthrobacter* sp., and predicted homologues in other bacteria. *Microbiology*, 149(6), 1541–1550.
- Parsek, M. R., & Greenberg, E. P. (2005). Sociomicrobiology: the connections between quorum sensing and biofilms. *Trends in Microbiology*, 13(1), 27–33.
- Pearson, J. P., Gray, K. M., Passador, L., Tucker, K. D., Eberhard, A., Iglewski, B. H., & Greenberg, E. P. (1994). Structure of the autoinducer required for expression of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* virulence genes. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 91(1), 197–201.
- Pearson, J. P., Gray, K. M., Passador, L., Tucker, K. D., Eberhard, A., Iglewski, B. H., & Greenberg, E. P. (1994). Structure of the autoinducer required for expression of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* virulence genes. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 91(1), 197–201.
- Pearson, J. P., Passador, L., Iglewski, B. H., & Greenberg, E. P. (1995). A second N-acylhomoserine lactone signal produced by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 92(5), 1490–1494.
- Pearson, J. P., Passador, L., Iglewski, B. H., & Greenberg, E. P. (1995). A second Nacylhomoserine lactone signal produced by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 92(5), 1490–1494.
- Penalver, C. G. N., Cantet, F., Morin, D., Haras, D., & Vorholt, J. A. (2006). A plasmid-borne truncated *luxI* homolog controls quorum-sensing systems and extracellular carbohydrate production in *Methylobacterium extorquens* AM1. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188(20), 7321–7324.

- Pesci, E. C., Milbank, J. B. J., Pearson, J. P., McKnight, S., Kende, A. S., Greenberg, E. P., & Iglewski, B. H. (1999). Quinolone signaling in the cell-to-cell communication system of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(20). 11229–11234.
- Poonguzhali, S., Madhaiyan, M., & Sa, T. (2007). Production of acyl-homoserine lactone quorum-sensing signals is widespread in gram-negative *Methylobacterium*. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 17(2), 226.
- Pruneda-Paz, J. L., Linares, M., Cabrera, J. E., & Genti-Raimondi, S. (2004). TeiR, a LuxR-type transcription factor required for testosterone degradation in *Comamonas testosteroni. Journal of Bacteriology*, 186(5), 1430–1437.
- Puskas, A., Greenberg, E. P., Kaplan, S. A. M. U. E. L., & Schaefer, A. L. (1997). A quorum-sensing system in the free-living photosynthetic bacterium *Rhodobacter* sphaeroides. Journal of Bacteriology, 179(23), 7530–7537.
- Quiñones, B., Dulla, G., & Lindow, S. E. (2005). Quorum sensing regulates exopolysaccharide production, motility, and virulence in *Pseudomonas syringae*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 18(7), 682–693.
- Rashid, R., Morohoshi, T., Someya, N., & Ikeda, T. (2011). Degradation of *N*-acylhomoserine lactone quorum sensing signaling molecules by potato root surface-associated *Chryseobacterium* strains. *Microbes and Environments*, 26(2), 144–148.
- Rihs, J. D., Brenner, D. J., Weaver, R. E., Steigerwalt, A. G., Hollis, D. G., & Yu, V. L. (1993). *Roseomonas*, a new genus associated with bacteremia and other human infections. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 31(12), 3275–3283.
- Rivas, M., Seeger, M., Jedlicki, E., & Holmes, D. S. (2007). Second acyl homoserine lactone production system in the extreme acidophile *Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(10), 3225–3231.
- Rodelas, B., Lithgow, J. K., Wisniewski-Dye, F., Hardman, A., Wilkinson, A., Economou, A., ... & Downie, J. A. (1999). Analysis of quorum-sensing-dependent control of rhizosphere-expressed (*rhi*) genes in *Rhizobium leguminosarum* bv. *viciae. Journal of Bacteriology*, 181(12), 3816–3823.
- Romero, M. C., Hammer, E., Cazau, M. C., & Arambarri, A. M. (2002). Isolation and characterization of biarylic structure-degrading yeasts: hydroxylation potential of dibenzofuran. *Environmental Pollution*, 118(3), 379–382.
- Romero, M., Diggle, S. P., Heeb, S., Camara, M., & Otero, A. (2008). Quorum quenching activity in *Anabaena* sp. PCC 7120: identification of AiiC, a novel AHL-acylase. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 280(1), 73–80.
- Rosemeyer, V., Michiels, J., Verreth, C., & Vanderleyden, J. (1998). *luxI*-and *luxR*homologous genes of *Rhizobium etli* CNPAF512 contribute to synthesis of autoinducer molecules and nodulation of *Phaseolus vulgaris*. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 180(4), 815–821.

- Salam, J. A., Lakshmi, V., Das, D., & Das, N. (2013). Biodegradation of lindane using a novel yeast strain, Rhodotorula sp. VITJzN03 isolated from agricultural soil. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 29(3), 475–487.
- Sambrook, J. (1989). Fritsch. EF and Maniatis. T.(1989) Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, NY, 267, 9289–9293.
- Schaefer, A. L., Taylor, T. A., Beatty, J. T., & Greenberg, E. P. (2002). Long-chain acyl-homoserine lactone quorum-sensing regulation of *Rhodobacter capsulatus* gene transfer agent production. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 184(23), 6515–6521.
- Schaefer, A. L., Val, D. L., Hanzelka, B. L., Cronan, J. E., & Greenberg, E. P. (1996). Generation of cell-to-cell signals in quorum sensing: acyl homoserine lactone synthase activity of a purified Vibrio fischeri LuxI protein. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 93(18), 9505–9509.
- Schauder, S. & Bassler, B. L. (2001). The languages of bacteria. Genes and Development, 15(12), 1468–1480.
- Shepherd, R. W., & Lindow, S. E. (2009). Two dissimilar N-acyl-homoserine lactone acylases of *Pseudomonas syringae* influence colony and biofilm morphology. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75(1), 45–53.
- Shimkets, L. J. (1990). Social and developmental biology of the myxobacteria. *Microbiological Reviews*, 54(4), 473.
- Sio, C. F., Otten, L. G., Cool, R. H., Diggle, S. P., Braun, P. G., Bos, R., ... & Quax, W. J. (2006). Quorum quenching by an N-acyl-homoserine lactone acylase from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1. *Infection and Immunity*, 74(3), 1673–1682.
- Skutch, A. F. (1935). Helpers at the nest. The Auk, 52(3), 257-273.
- Sokol, P. A., Sajjan, U., Visser, M. B., Gingues, S., Forstner, J., & Kooi, C. (2003). The CepIR quorum-sensing system contributes to the virulence of *Burkholderia cenocepacia* respiratory infections. *Microbiology*, 149(12), 3649–3658.
- Swift, S., Karlyshev, A. V., Fish, L., Durant, E. L., Winson, M. K., Chhabra, S. R., ... & Stewart, G. S. (1997). Quorum sensing in *Aeromonas hydrophila* and *Aeromonas salmonicida*: identification of the LuxRI homologs AhyRI and AsaRI and their cognate *N*-acylhomoserine lactone signal molecules. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 179(17), 5271–5281.
- Swift, S., Williams, P., & Stewart, G. S. A. B. (1999). N-acylhomoserine lactones and quorum sensing in proteobacteria. Cell-cell signaling in bacteria. ASM Press, Washington, DC, 291–313.
- Swift, S., Winson, M. K., & Chan, P. F. Bainton, N. J., Birdsall, M., Reeves, P. J., ... & Stewart, G. S. A. B. (1993). A novel strategy for the isolation of *lux1* homologues: evidence for the widespread distribution of a LuxR: LuxI superfamily in enteric bacteria. *Molecular Microbiology*, 10, 511–520.

- Takeuchi, M., & Hatano, K. (1998). Gordonia rhizosphera sp. nov. isolated from the mangrove rhizosphere. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology, 48(3), 907–912.
- Tamura, K., Peterson, D., Peterson, N., Stecher, G., Nei, M., & Kumar, S. (2011). MEGA5: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis using maximum likelihood, evolutionary distance, and maximum parsimony methods. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 28(10), 2731–2739.
- Thomas, P. W., Stone, E. M., Costello, A. L., Tierney, D. L., & Fast, W. (2005). The quorum-quenching lactonase from *Bacillus thuringiensis* is a metalloprotein. *Biochemistry*, 44(20), 7559–7569.
- Thomson, N. R., Crow, M. A., McGowan, S. J., Cox, A., & Salmond, G. P. C. (2000). Biosynthesis of carbapenem antibiotic and prodigiosin pigment in *Serratia* is under quorum sensing control. *Molecular Microbiology*, 36(3), 539–556.
- Ulrich, R. L., DeShazer, D., Brueggemann, E. E., Hines, H. B., Oyston, P. C., & Jeddeloh, J. A. (2004a). Role of quorum sensing in the pathogenicity of *Burkholderia pseudomallei*. Journal of Medical Microbiology, 53(11), 1053–1064.
- Ulrich, R. L., DeShazer, D., Hines, H. B., & Jeddeloh, J. A. (2004b). Quorum sensing: a transcriptional regulatory system involved in the pathogenicity of *Burkholderia* mallei. Infection and Immunity, 72(11), 6589–6596.
- Uroz, S., Chhabra, S. R., Cámara, M., Williams, P., Oger, P., & Dessaux, Y. (2005). N-Acylhomoserine lactone quorum-sensing molecules are modified and degraded by *Rhodococcus erythropolis* W2 by both amidolytic and novel oxidoreductase activities. *Microbiology*, 151(10), 3313–3322.
- Uroz, S., Oger, P. M., Chapelle, E., Adeline, M. T., Faure, D., & Dessaux, Y. (2008). A *Rhodococcus qsdA*-encoded enzyme defines a novel class of large-spectrum quorum-quenching lactonases. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 74(5), 1357–1366.
- Uroz, S., Oger, P., Chhabra, S. R., Cámara, M., Williams, P., & Dessaux, Y. (2007). Nacyl homoserine lactones are degraded via an amidolytic activity in *Comamonas* sp. strain D1. Archives of Microbiology, 187(3), 249–256.
- Valade, E., Thibault, F. M., Gauthier, Y. P., Palencia, M., Popoff, M. Y., & Vidal, D. R. (2004). The PmII-PmIR quorum-sensing system in *Burkholderia pseudomallei* plays a key role in virulence and modulates production of the MprA protease. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 186(8), 2288–2294.
- Van Houdt, R., Moons, P., Aertsen, A., Jansen, A., Vanoirbeek, K., Daykin, M., ... & Michiels, C. W. (2007). Characterization of a *luxI/ luxR*-type quorum sensing system and *N*-acyl-homoserine lactone-dependent regulation of exo-enzyme and antibacterial component production in *Serratia plymuthica* RVH1. *Research in Microbiology*, 158(2), 150–158.
- Verma, P., Brown, J. M., Nunez, V. H., Morey, R. E., Steigerwalt, A. G., Pellegrini, G. J., & Kessler, H. A. (2006). Native valve endocarditis due to *Gordonia* polyisoprenivorans: case report and review of literature of bloodstream infections caused by *Gordonia* species. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 44(5), 1905–1908.

- Vishnivetskaya, T. A., Lucas, S., Copeland, A., Lapidus, A., del Rio, T. G., Dalin, E., ...
  & Tiedje, J. M. (2011). Complete genome sequence of the thermophilic bacterium Exiguobacterium sp. AT1b. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *193*(11), 2880–2881.
- Wang, S. L., & Chang, W. T. (1997). Purification and characterization of two bifunctional chitinases/lysozymes extracellularly produced by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* K-187 in a shrimp and crab shell powder medium. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63(2), 380–386.
- Wang, W. Z., Morohoshi, T., Ikenoya, M., Someya, N., & Ikeda, T. (2010). AiiM, a novel class of *N*-acylhomoserine lactonase from the leaf-associated bacterium *Microbacterium testaceum*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 76(8), 2524-2530.
- Wang, Y. J., & Leadbetter, J. R. (2005). Rapid acyl-homoserine lactone quorum signal biodegradation in diverse soils. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(3), 1291–1299.
- Waters, C. M., & Bassler, B. L. (2005). Quorum sensing: cell-to-cell communication in bacteria. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 21, 319–346.
- West, S. A., Griffin, A. S., Gardner, A., & Diggle, S. P. (2006). Social evolution theory for microorganisms. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 4(8), 597–607.
- Wilkinson, A., Danino, V., Wisniewski-Dye, F., Lithgow, J. K., & Downie, J. A. (2002). N-Acyl-homoserine lactone inhibition of rhizobial growth is mediated by two quorum-sensing genes that regulate plasmid transfer. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 184(16), 4510–4519.
- Williams, P., Winzer, K., Chan, W. C., & Camara, M. (2007). Look who's talking: communication and quorum sensing in the bacterial world. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 362(1483), 1119–1134.
- Winzer, K., Hardie, K. R., & Williams, P. (2002). Bacterial cell-to-cell communication: sorry, can't talk now—gone to lunch!. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 5(2), 216–222.
- Wisniewski-Dye, F., Jones, J., Chhabra, S. R., & Downie, J. A. (2002). *raiIR* genes are part of a quorum-sensing network controlled by *cinI* and *cinR* in Rhizobium *leguminosarum. Journal of Bacteriology*, *184*(6), 1597–1606.
- Wong, C. S., Koh, C. L., Sam, C. K., Chen, J. W., Chong, Y. M., Yin, W. F., & Chan, K. G. (2013). Degradation of Bacterial Quorum Sensing Signaling Molecules by the Microscopic Yeast *Trichosporon loubieri* Isolated from Tropical Wetland Waters. *Sensors*, 13(10), 12943–12957.
- Wood, D. W., Gong, F., Daykin, M. M., Williams, P., & Pierson, L. (1997). N-acylhomoserine lactone-mediated regulation of phenazine gene expression by *Pseudomonas aureofaciens* 30-84 in the wheat rhizosphere. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 179(24), 7663–7670.
- Yang, M., Sun, K., Zhou, L., Yang, R., Zhong, Z. & Zhu. J. (2009). Functional analysis of three AHL autoinducer synthase genes in *Mesorhizobium loti* reveals the 103

important role of quorum sensing in symbiotic nodulation. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 55(22):210–214

- Yates, E. A., Philipp, B., Buckley, C., Atkinson, S., Chhabra, S. R., Sockett, R. E., ... & Williams, P. (2002). N-acylhomoserine lactones undergo lactonolysis in a pH-, temperature-, and acyl chain length-dependent manner during growth of Yersinia pseudotuberculosis and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Infection and Immunity, 70(10), 5635–5646.
- Yoon, J. H., Lee, J. K., Jung, S. Y., Kim, J. A., Kim, H. K. & Oh, T. K. (2006). Nocardioides kongjuensis sp. nov., an N-acylhomoserine lactone-degrading bacterium. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 56(8), 1783–1787.
- Zhang, H. B., Wang, L. H., & Zhang, L. H. (2002). Genetic control of quorum-sensing signal turnover in Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 99(7), 4638–4643.
- Zhang, L., Murphy, P. J., Kerr, A., & Tate, M. E. (1993). *Agrobacterium* conjugation and gene regulation by *N*-acyl-<sub>L</sub>-homoserine lactones. *Nature*, *362*(6419), 446– 448.
- Zhang, Z., & Pierson, L. S. (2001). A second quorum-sensing system regulates cell surface properties but not phenazine antibiotic production in *Pseudomonas* aureofaciens. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 67(9), 4305–4315.